UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MARTIN TROTT and CHRISTOPHER SMITH, as Joint Official Liquidators and Foreign Representatives of PLATINUM PARTNERS VALUE ARBITRAGE FUND L.P. (in OFFICIAL LIQUIDATION) and PLATINUM PARTNERS VALUE ARBITRAGE FUND L.P. (in OFFICIAL LIQUIDATION)

Plaintiffs,

v.

PLATINUM MANAGEMENT (NY) LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

Docket No. 18-CV-10936 (JSR)

Declaration of Eric M. Creizman

- I, ERIC M. CREIZMAN, hereby declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746:
- 1. I am an attorney licensed to practice in the State of New York, and before this Court. I am a member of the law firm, Pierce Bainbridge Beck Price & Hecht LLP. I represent Defendant David Ottensoser in the above-captioned matter, and submit this declaration in support of his motion to dismiss the Complaint under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), 8, and 9.
- Annexed hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of Exhibit 38 to Plaintiffs'
 Complaint.
- Annexed hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of Exhibit 40 to Plaintiffs'
 Complaint.
- Annexed hereto as Exhibit C is a true and correct copy of Exhibit 49 to Plaintiffs'
 Complaint.

Case 1:18-cv-10936-JSR Document 85 Filed 01/09/19 Page 2 of 2

I hereby declare the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my ability and knowledge.

Dated: New York, New York January 9, 2019

/s/ Eric M. Creizman
Eric M. Creizman

EXHIBIT A

EXHIBIT 38

Case41188:vv1099663SBR DDocument185-1Fileded1021/019319-agage43bf137

To: David Levy[dlevy@platinumlp.com]

From: David Ottensoser

Sent: Thur 6/20/2013 5:24:45 PM

Subject: FW: New matter

Beechwood Re Investment LLC (or something like that)?

----Original Message----

From: Auerbach, Andrew [mailto:aeauerbach@BryanCave.com]

Sent: Thursday, June 20, 2013 1:14 PM

To: David Ottensoser Subject: New matter

David,

In order to open the new matter, I will need the name of the Newco. Please let me know when you and David have decided on a name.

Thanks Andy

Andrew E. Auerbach Bryan Cave LLP 1290 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10104 (212) 541-1232 - direct (212) 904-0535 - fax aeauerbach@bryancave.com

This electronic message is from a law firm. It may contain confidential or privileged information. If you received this transmission in error, please reply to the sender to advise of the error and delete this transmission and any attachments.

IRS Circular 230 Disclosure: To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform you that any U.S. federal tax advice contained in this communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, marketing, or recommending to another party any transaction or matter addressed herein. bcllp2013

EXHIBIT B

EXHIBIT 40

Casse 11 118 cov-1109936-JISFR | Document 189-2 File to 10 2 10 9 80 90 53 off 1947

To: David Levy[dlevy@platinumlp.com]; David Ottensoser[DOttensoser@platinumlp.com]

From: Durham, Laurel

Sent: Wed 7/3/2013 6:34:14 PM

Subject: Beechwood Reinvestment - Revised LLC Agreement and Subscription Documents

RED - Beechwood Reinvestment - LLC Agreement (DE) - Beechwood Reinvestment - LLC Agreement (DE)-v1.DOC

Beechwood Reinvestment - LLC Agreement (DE)-v2.DOC

Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC - Subscription Documents (DE)-v1.DOC

David and David,

Attached for your review are the following documents:

- 1. Clean and redline of the LLC Agreement for Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC, which I revised pursuant to our call on Monday. Will there be a minimum amount for the initial closing? I have left the "Initial Closing" amount in the definitions section blank at this time.
- 2. Clean version of the subscription documents in which I added the Newco name.

There are some blanks in the documents, particularly the address for Beechwood and wire instruction information for investors in the subscription documents.

Thanks and please let me know if you have any questions or comments. Best regards, Laurel

Laurel A. Durham

Bryan Cave LLP
1700 Lincoln St., Suite 4100
Denver, Colorado 80203-4541
(303) 866-0685 (Direct – Denver)
(303) 417-8533 (Direct – Boulder)
(303) 866-0200 (Fax)
laurel.durham@bryancave.com
www.bryancave.com

This electronic message is from a law firm. It may contain confidential or privileged information. If you received this transmission in error, please reply to the sender to advise of the error and delete this transmission and any attachments.

IRS Circular 230 Disclosure: To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform you that any U.S. federal tax advice contained in this communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, marketing, or recommending to another party any transaction or matter addressed herein.

bcllp2013

BC Draft 67/213/2013

THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY REPRESENTED BY THIS LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT (AS MODIFIED, AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTED) AMONG THE MEMBERS AND MANAGER SIGNATORY HERETO, HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR QUALIFIED UNDER ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS IN RELIANCE UPON **EXEMPTIONS THEREFROM.** THESE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INTERESTS MAY NOT BE OFFERED, ASSIGNED, PLEDGED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF ABSENT AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND QUALIFICATION UNDER SUCH STATE SECURITIES **EXEMPTIONS FROM** SUCH REGISTRATION **UNLESS** OUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS ARE AVAILABLE. THE COMPANY HAS THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE ANY POTENTIAL TRANSFEROR OF A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INTEREST IN THE COMPANY TO DELIVER AN OPINION OF COUNSEL ACCEPTABLE TO THE COMPANY PRIOR TO ANY TRANSFER TO THE EFFECT THAT AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION IS TRANSFER. ADDITIONAL **AVAILABLE** FOR **SUCH SUBSTANTIAL** RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER OF THESE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INTERESTS ARE SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT.

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT

FOR

[NEWCO] BEECHWOOD REINVESTMENT, LLC

Dated as of JuneJuly _____, 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE I	DEFINITIONS	1
ARTICLE	II THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY	6
2.1	Formation.	
2.2	Name	
2.3	Term	
2.4	Registered Office and Agent; Principal Place of Business	
2.5	Purpose	
ARTICLE I	III CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS	7
3.1	Capital Contributions By Members	
3.2	Admission of Additional Members	
3.3	No Third Party Right to Enforce	
3.4	Return of Contributions	
ARTICI E I	IV REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS	8
4.1	General Representations and Warranties	
4.2	Conflict and Tax Representations	
4.3	Survival	
A DELCT E	COMPANY MANAGEMENT	_
	V COMPANY MANAGEMENT	
5.1 5.2	Manager	
5.2	Management Authority	
5.3 5.4	Duties	
5.4 5.5	Payment of Expenses	
5.5 5.6	Initial Manager as Member	
5.7	Removal and Replacement	
5.8	Resignation	
5.9	Vacancies	
5.10	Reliance by Third Parties	
5.10	Other Business Opportunities; Affiliate Transactions; Conflicts	
5.12	Standard of Care; Indemnification	
	,	
	VI MEMBERS	
6.1	No Control by the Members; Rights of the Members	
6.2	Limited Liability	
6.3	Quorum and Voting	
6.4	Action by Written Consent	
6.5	Meetings	
6.6	No State-Law Partnership	
6.7	Tax Matters	16

ARTICLE V	/II DISTRIBUTIONS TO THE MEMBERS	16
7.1	Discretionary Distribution to Pay Tax	16
7.2	Ordinary Distributions	16 17
7.3	Liquidity Event and Liquidation Proceeds	
7.4	Distributions in Kind and of Non-Cash Assets.	
ARTICLE V	/III ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES	17 18
8.1	In General	
8.2	Regulatory Allocations and Other Allocation Rules	
8.3	Other Allocation Rules	
ARTICLE I	X ALLOCATION OF TAXABLE INCOME AND TAX LOSSES	21
9.1	Allocation of Taxable Income and Tax Losses	
9.2	Allocation of Section 704(c) Items	
9.3	Integration with Section 754 Election	
9.4	Allocation of Tax Credits	
	X ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING	
10.1	Books	
10.2	Capital Accounts	
10.3	Valuation of Securities and Other Assets Owned by the Company	
10.4	Transfers During Year	
10.5	Reports	
10.6	Section 754 Election	
10.7	Inspection of Documents	24
ARTICLE X	XI TRANSFER OF MEMBER'S INTEREST	24 25
11.1	Restrictions on Transfers and Liens	24 25
11.2	Permitted Transfers.	<mark>24</mark> 25
11.3	Substitution of a Member	25
11.4	Conditions to Substitution.	
11.5	Admission as a Member	26
ARTICLE X	XII WITHDRAWAL, DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION	26
12.1	Withdrawal	
12.2	Dissolution	
12.3	Liquidation	
12.4	Articles of Dissolution	
ARTICLE	XIII NOTICES	27 28
13.1	Method of Notices	
13.2	Computation of Time	
ARTICLE V	XIV GENERAL PROVISIONS	28 20
14.1	Amendment	
14.1	Governing Law; Venue	
14.3	Waiver	
	Power of Attorney	

Casse 11:1198-cov-11099866-JUSTR | Doocumentt 18-9-2 Fileite d 10/2/10/9/81.9 P & Roger 6 77 off 1947

14.5	Confidentiality	30
	Applicable Law	
	Entire Agreement	
	Counterparts	
	Additional Documents	
	No Third Party Beneficiaries	
	Counsel to the Company	

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT FOR [NEWCO] BEECHWOOD REINVESTMENT, LLC

This Limited Liability Company Agreement (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of <u>June July</u> _____, 2013 (the "<u>Effective Date</u>"), for <u>Newco Beechwood Reinvestment</u>, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "<u>Company</u>"), is among the Manager and Members (as defined below) signatory hereto.

In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Members agree as follows:

Article I DEFINITIONS

In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the indicated meaning:

"<u>Accredited Investor</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term under Rule 501 of Regulation D, promulgated under the Securities Act.

" $\underline{\text{Act}}$ " means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, as amended from time to time.

"Adjusted Capital Account Deficit" means, with respect to any Member, a deficit balance in such Member's Capital Account as of the end of the fiscal year after giving effect to the following adjustments: (a) credit to such Capital Account the additions, if any, permitted by Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(c) (referring to obligations to restore a capital account deficit), 1.704-2(g)(1) (referring "partnership minimum gain") and 1.704-2(i)(5) (referring to "partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain"), and (b) debit to such Capital Account the items described in §§ 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5) and (6) of the Treasury Regulations. This definition of Adjusted Capital Account Deficit is intended to comply with the provisions of Treasury Regulation § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d).

"Adjusted Properties" is defined in Section 9.2.

"Affiliate" means with respect to a Person, (a) any other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person, (b) any spouse, ascendant or descendant of any such Person or any Person described in clause (a) of this definition, and (c) any trust, family partnership or other entity established primarily for the benefit of such Person or any Person described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition. As used in this definition, the word "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

"Agreement" is defined in the introductory paragraph.

"Available Cash" means Distributable Assets that are in the form of cash or cash equivalents.

"Business" is defined in Section 2.5.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means each day that is not a Saturday or Sunday when the New York Stock Exchange is open for business.

"Capital Account" is defined in Section 10.2(a).

"Capital Contribution" means for any Member at the particular time in question the aggregate of the dollar amounts of any cash, cash equivalents and Non-Cash Assets contributed by such Member to the capital of the Company.

"Carrying Value." The initial "Carrying Value" of property contributed to the Company, including Non-Cash Assets, by a Member means the value of such property at the time of contribution as determined by the Manager. The initial Carrying Value of any other property shall be the adjusted basis of such property for federal income tax purposes at the time it is acquired by the Company. The initial Carrying Value of a property shall be reduced (but not below zero) by all subsequent depreciation, cost recovery, depletion and amortization deductions with respect to such property as taken into account in determining Profit and Loss. The Carrying Value of any property shall be adjusted from time to time in accordance with Section 10.2(b) and Treasury Regulation $\S 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)$, and to reflect changes, additions or other adjustments to the Carrying Value for dispositions, acquisitions or improvements of Company properties, as deemed appropriate by the Manager.

"Certificate of Formation" is defined in Section 2.1.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. Any reference herein to a specific section or sections of the Code shall be deemed to include a reference to any corresponding provision of future Law.

"Company" is defined in the introductory paragraph.

"Company Counsel" is defined in Section 14.12.

"Company Expenses" means all expenses and costs incurred in conducting the Company's business, including, without limitation the following: (i) accounting, legal and other professional services; (ii) costs and expensed incurred in connection with the Company's investment in the Operating Company (including related due diligence expenses) and the monitoring, management, restructuring, sale or other disposition of such investment; (iii) costs of any litigation or investigation involving Company activities; (iv) costs of any litigation or investigation involving Company activities; (v) Organizational Expenses; and (vi) costs and expenses for terminating, dissolving and winding up the Company.

"Company Interest" means any Membership Interest, and any other rights in the Company, including, without limitation, any economic rights as an assignee, transferee or successor of any Member.

"Confidential Information" means information concerning the properties, operations, business, trade secrets, technical know-how and other non-public information and data of or relating to the Company and the Manager (including the contents of this Agreement and its Exhibits), its properties, any technical information with respect to any project of the Company.

"<u>Distributable Assets</u>" means, at a particular time, the cash, cash equivalents and Non-Cash Assets held by the Company [(including, without limitation, distributions received from the Operating Company)], less such cash reserves as the Manager reasonably determines are necessary to pay on a timely basis Company costs and expenses, including Company Expenses, taxes, and other obligations of the Company, taking into account the anticipated revenues of the Company.

"Effective Date" is defined in the introductory paragraph.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States in accordance with the hierarchy set forth in Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification.

"Indemnified Person" is defined in Section 5.12(b).

"Initial Closing" means the date on which the first Member is admitted to the Company which shall occur when the subscriptions for Membership Interests is at least \$[__,000,000].

"<u>Law</u>" or "<u>Laws</u>" means all applicable federal, state, tribal and local laws (statutory or common), rules, ordinances, regulations, grants, concessions, franchises, licenses, orders, directives, judgments, decrees, restrictions and other similar requirements, whether legislative, municipal, administrative or judicial in nature.

"<u>Lien</u>" means any mortgage, deed of trust, lien (statutory or otherwise), pledge, hypothecation, charge, deposit arrangement, preference, priority, security interest, option, right of first refusal or other transfer restriction or encumbrance of any kind (including preferential purchase rights, conditional sales agreements or other title retention agreements, and the filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code or comparable Law of any jurisdiction to evidence any of the foregoing).

"Major Decision" is defined in Section 5.3.

"Major Decision Threshold" means \$\frac{100,000}{100,000}.

"Manager" is defined in Section 5.1.

"Member" means, at the time of determination, a Person holding Company Interests, that is or should be designated as a Member of the Company and a Person admitted as a substituted Member pursuant to Section 11.3.

"Membership Interest" means, with respect to any Member, (a) that Member's status as a Member, (b) that Member's Capital Account and share of the Profits, Losses and other items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credits of, and the right to receive distributions (liquidating or

otherwise) from, the Company under the terms of this Agreement, (c) all other rights, benefits, and privileges enjoyed by, and obligations of, such Member (under the Act or this Agreement) in its capacity as a Member, including that Member's rights to vote, consent and approve those matters described in this Agreement, and (d) all obligations, duties and liabilities imposed on that Member under the Act or this Agreement in its capacity as a Member.

"Misconduct" means any of the following: (a) the conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere by any member of the Manager with respect to (i) a material violation of material federal or state securities Laws, (ii) a felony under any criminal statute, or (iii) a violation of any other criminal statute involving intentional fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement, or (b) the Manager has been determined by a court of first impression having competent jurisdiction to have knowingly and willfully breached its material obligations under this Agreement or, subject to Section 5.4, its fiduciary obligations to the Company, including for intentional fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence.

"Non-Cash Assets" means Securities and any other in-kind property held by the Company other than cash or cash-equivalents. The value of Non-Cash Assets shall be determined as of the date of the initial Capital Contributions of Non-Cash Assets by a Member and, thereafter, shall be revalued every 12 months in accordance with the procedures described in this Agreement. Non-Cash Assets shall not include any dividends or distributions made to a Member by the issuer of Securities and the Member shall be entitled to retain any dividends or distributions made to the Member by such issuer.

"<u>Operating Company</u>" means <u>Beachwood Beechwood</u> Reinsurance LLC, a limited liability company formed under the laws of the Cayman Islands, British West Indies.

"Organizational Expenses" means the expenses incurred in the organization of the Company and the offering of the Membership Interests.

"<u>Percentage Interests</u>" means, with respect to each Member, the percentage of the outstanding Membership Interests held by such Member set forth opposite such Member's name on <u>Exhibit A</u>, as such Percentage Interest may be modified from time to time pursuant to this Agreement.

"<u>Person</u>" means a natural person, corporation, joint venture, partnership, limited liability partnership, limited partnership, limited liability limited partnership, limited liability company, trust, estate, business trust, association, governmental authority or any other entity.

"Preferred Distribution" means an amount, determined for each Member, equal to (i) eight percent (8%) of such Member's Capital Contributions that consist of cash and cash equivalents and (ii) five percent (5%) of such Member's Capital Contributions of Non-Cash Assets (based on the most recent valuation completed with respect to such Non-Cash Assets).

"Prime Rate" means a rate per annum equal to the *lesser of* (a) an annual rate of interest which equals the floating commercial loan rate as published in the <u>Wall Street Journal</u> from time to time as the "Prime Rate," adjusted in each case as of the banking day in which a change in the Prime Rate occurs, as reported in the <u>Wall Street Journal</u>; *provided, however*, that if such rate is no longer published in the <u>Wall Street Journal</u>, then it shall mean an annual rate of interest which

equals the floating commercial loan rate of Citibank N.A., or its successors and assigns, announced from time to time as its "base rate," adjusted in each case as of the banking day in which a change in the base rate occurs, and (b) the maximum rate permitted by applicable Law.

"Profit" or "Loss" means the income or loss of the Company as determined under the capital accounting rules of Treasury Regulation $\S 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)$ for purposes of adjusting the Capital Accounts of Members including, without limitation, the provisions of paragraphs 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g) and 1.704-1(b)(4) of those regulations relating to the computation of items of income, gain, deduction and loss.

"Regulatory Allocations" is defined in Section 8.2(h).

"<u>Relative</u>" means, in relation to a natural person, any spouse, brother, sister, aunt, uncle, ascendant or descendant of such natural person.

"Required Interest of Members" means Members holding, individually or in the aggregate, at least [66%] of the Membership Interests.

"Rules" is defined in Section 14.12.

"Securities" or "Security" means (1) securities and other financial instruments and rights and options relating thereto of United States of America ("U.S.") and non-U.S. entities, now existing or hereinafter created, including without limitation equities, debt instruments, shares of stock funds, American Deposit Receipts, shares; (2) partnership, limited liability or similar beneficial interests in private entities, (3) private investments in public entities (PIPEs); (4) bonds, notes, bills, debt, debt instruments and debentures; (5) currencies; (6) interest rate, commodity, equity and other derivative products and instruments of any kind, including, without limitation (a) futures contracts (and options thereon), (b) swap contracts, options, and forward rate agreements, (c) spot and forward currency transactions and (d) agreements relating to or securing such transactions; (7) loans, accounts and notes receivable and payable held by trade or other creditors; (8) trade acceptances; (9) contract and other claims; (10) executory contracts; (11) participations; (12) mutual funds, exchange-traded funds and other stock funds; (13) money market funds; (14) obligations of the U.S. or any state thereof, foreign governments and instrumentalities of any of them; (15) commercial paper; (16) certificates of deposit; (17) banker's acceptances; (18) trust receipts; and (19) other obligations and instruments or evidences of indebtedness of whatever kind of nature; in each case, of any Person, corporation, government or other entity whatsoever, or such other instruments identified by the Manager.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time. Any reference herein to a specific section or sections of the Securities Act shall be deemed to include a reference to any corresponding provision of future Law.

"<u>Transfer</u>" or "<u>Transferred</u>" means, with respect to any asset, including a Membership Interest or any portion thereof, including any right to receive distributions from the Company or any other economic interest in the Company, a sale, pledge assignment, transfer, conveyance, gift, exchange or other disposition of such asset, whether such disposition be voluntary, involuntary or by merger, exchange, consolidation or other operation of Law, including the following: (a) in the case of an asset owned by a natural person, a transfer of such asset upon the

death of its owner, whether by will, intestate succession or otherwise, (b) in the case of an asset owned by a Person which is not a natural person, a distribution of such asset, including in connection with the dissolution, liquidation, winding up or termination of such Person (other than a liquidation under a deemed termination solely for tax purposes), and (c) a disposition in connection with, or in lieu of, a foreclosure of a Lien; *provided, however*, a Transfer shall not include the creation of a Lien.

"Treasury Regulations" means regulations issued by the Department of Treasury under the Code. Any reference herein to a specific section or sections of the Treasury Regulations shall be deemed to include a reference to any corresponding provision of future regulations under the Code.

"<u>Unpaid Preferred Distribution</u>" means an amount, determined for each Member, equal to the Member's Preferred Distribution reduced by the aggregate amount distributed to the Member pursuant to Sections 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3 through the date of determination.

Article II THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

Formation. The Company was formed pursuant to the Certificate of Formation, filed by the Manager with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on JuneJuly _____, 2013 (as amended, modified and supplemented, the "Certificate of Formation"). The Manager shall execute such further documents (including amendments to the Certificate of Formation) and take such further action as shall be appropriate or necessary to comply with the requirements of Law for the formation, qualification or operation of a limited liability company in all other states and counties where the Company may conduct its business. To the fullest extent permitted by the Act, this Agreement shall control as to any conflict between this Agreement and the Act or as to any matter provided for in this Agreement that is also provided for in the Act.

<u>Name</u>. The name of the Company shall be <u>[Newco] Beechwood Reinvestment</u>, LLC, unless otherwise determined by the Manager.

<u>**Term**</u>. The Company shall have perpetual existence; *provided*, that the Company shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of an event set forth in Section 12.2.

Registered Office and Agent; Principal Place of Business. The location of the registered office of the Company and the Company's registered agent shall be at such address as set forth in the Certificate of Formation, unless otherwise determined by the Manager. The location of the principal place of business of the Company shall be at such location as the Manager may from time to time select.

<u>Purpose</u>. The business of the Company shall be to (a) invest in the Operating Company, and engage in any and all activities related or incidental thereto (including incurring debt to finance such activities), and (b) do all things necessary or appropriate in connection with the foregoing (collectively, the "<u>Business</u>"). The Business may be conducted directly by the Company or indirectly through another corporation, limited liability company, partnership (general or limited), joint venture or other entity or arrangement.

Article III CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Capital Contributions By Members.

- (a) The Members shall make Capital Contributions of cash in U.S. Dollars, cash equivalents and Non-Cash Assets to the Company, payable by wire transfer. The initial Capital Contribution amounts, including the value of any Non-Cash Assets, of each Member shall be set forth in the books and records of the Company.
- (b) Subject to applicable securities laws, each Member shall have the first right to purchase such Member's pro rata share (based on such Member's Percentage Interests) of any new Membership Interests to be issued by the Company. If any Member does not purchase its full pro rata share, then any remaining Members shall have the right to purchase the remaining share pro rata. Each Member shall have 20 days from the date of receiving a notice from the Manager of such proposed sale to agree to purchase its pro rata share of the new Membership Interests for the price and upon the terms and conditions specified in the notice by giving written notice to the Company and stating therein the amount of Membership Interests to be purchased.
- (c) (b) The Manager shall not be authorized to call (and the Members shall not be obligated to make) any additional Capital Contributions following the Members' initial Capital Contributions except for Capital Contributions that Members may elect to make as provided in Section 3.1(c).
- (d) (c) Except as specifically provided under this Agreement, no Member shall have any obligation to contribute capital to the Company, including without limitation with respect to any deficit Capital Account balance.

3.2 Admission of Additional Members.

- (a) Subject to Article XII and Section 3.2(b) below, no additional Person may be admitted as a Member to the Company (i) without the prior written consent of the Manager and (ii) without executing and delivering to the Company and the Manager the documents described in Section 11.3(a).
- (b) For the period commencing on the date of the Initial Closing and ending on the first to occur of (i) the Company's receipt of total Capital Contributions equal to \$100,000,000 (or such greater amount as the Manager shall accept in its discretion); or (ii) [90th] day thereafter, the Manager may admit persons as additional Members (or allow existing Members to increase their Capital Contributions) without the consent of any of the existing Members. Following the admission of any such subsequently admitted Members pursuant to this Section 3.2(b), such Members shall be deemed for all purposes of this Agreement except for voting rights and other matters, expressly set forth herein, which shall not commence until such Member's admission in accordance with this Agreement to have been an initial Member, admitted as of the date of this Agreement (unless expressly provided to the contrary herein). Upon the admission of any additional Members to the Company (or increase in the Capital

Contributions of a Member) pursuant to this Section 3.2(b), the assets of the Company shall not be revalued except in the discretion of the Manager.

<u>No Third Party Right to Enforce</u>. No Person other than a Member shall have the right to enforce any obligation of a Member to contribute capital hereunder and specifically no lender or other third party shall have any such rights.

Return of Contributions. No Member shall be entitled to the return of any part of its Capital Contributions or to be paid interest in respect of either its Capital Account or its Capital Contributions. No unrepaid Capital Contribution shall constitute a liability of the Company, the Manager or any Member. A Member is not required to contribute or to lend cash or property to the Company to enable the Company to return any Member's Capital Contributions. The provisions of this Section 3.4 shall not limit a Member's rights under Article XII.

Article IV REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

<u>General Representations and Warranties</u>. Each Member represents and warrants to the Manager, the other Members and the Company as follows:

- (a) If it is an entity, it is the type of legal entity specified in its Subscription Documents, duly organized and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and is qualified to do business and is in good standing in those jurisdictions where necessary to carry out the purposes of this Agreement;
- (b) If it is an entity, the execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement and all transactions contemplated herein are within its entity powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary entity actions;
- (c) This Agreement constitutes its valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium and similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity; and
- (d) The execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement will not conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of (i) any applicable Law, (ii) if it is an entity, its governing documents, or (iii) any agreement or arrangement to which it or any of its Affiliates is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its Affiliates or any of its or their assets.

<u>Conflict and Tax Representations</u>. Each Member represents and warrants to the Manager, the other Members and the Company as follows:

(a) Such Member has been advised that (i) a conflict of interest exists among the Members' individual interests, (ii) this Agreement has tax consequences and (iii) it should seek independent counsel in connection with the execution of this Agreement;

- (b) Such Member has had the opportunity to seek independent counsel, including independent tax advice, prior to the execution of this Agreement, and such Member is not relying to any extent on any representation of any kind to it regarding tax consequences of this Agreement; and
- (c) This Agreement and the language used in this Agreement are the product of all parties' efforts and each party hereby irrevocably waives the benefit of any rule of contract construction which disfavors the drafter of an agreement.

<u>Survival</u>. The representations and warranties set forth in this Article IV shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and any documents of Transfer provided under this Agreement.

Article V COMPANY MANAGEMENT

<u>Manager</u>. The Company shall be managed by one manager (the "<u>Manager</u>"). The initial Manager shall be David Levy. The Manager shall have the power and authority to conduct the business of the Company and is hereby expressly authorized on behalf of the Company to make all decisions with respect to the Company's business and to take all actions necessary to carry out such decisions, except as such discretion, powers and rights are expressly limited or denied in this Agreement.

Management Authority. The Manager shall have full, exclusive and complete discretion in the management and control of the business and affairs of the Company and shall have, in addition to those powers and rights expressly granted in this Agreement, all the powers and rights of a Manager of a limited liability company organized under the Act, except as such discretion, powers and rights are expressly limited or denied in this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and except as provided in Section 5.3, in connection with managing and controlling the business and affairs of the Company, the Manager shall have the sole authority and absolute discretion, on behalf of the Company and without limitation:

- (a) To originate and structure the investment of Company assets in the Operating Company;
- (b) To monitor and evaluate the Company's investment in the Operating Company and provide ongoing management and operations support services to the Operating Company;
- (c) To exercise the voting rights under any and all Securities of the Operating Company owned by the Company;
- (d) To arrange for the sale, pledge, or other Transfer of all or any part of the Securities of the Operating Company held by the Company (including determining the timing and manner of such sale), or the approval by the Company of any merger or consolidation of the Operating Company or the sale of all or substantially all of the Operating Company's assets on such terms and at such times as it shall determine to be in the best interests of the Company and its Members;

- (e) To cause the Company to borrow money from Members or to guarantee loans or other extensions of credit (i) to support an obligation made to the Operating Company, or (ii) to provide bridge financing to the Operating Company;
- (f) To admit additional Members or to issue additional equity interests (or rights to acquire equity interests) in the Company to existing Members, to additional Members or to other persons or entities, but only to the extent consistent with Section 3.2 and Article XI;
- (g) To hire, employ, retain or otherwise secure attorneys, accountants, consultants and other independent contractors or other personnel necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of the Company upon such terms as the Manager may determine;
- (h) To sue and be sued, and complain and defend, in the name of and on behalf of the Company, and to settle, adjust, submit to arbitration and compromise all actions, suits, accounts, reckonings, claims and demands whatsoever now or hereafter pending between the Company and any other party (other than a Member);
 - (i) To pay all Company Expenses;
- (j) To make or revoke such elections as it deems appropriate under the tax Laws of the United States, the several states and other relevant jurisdictions as to the treatment of items of Company income, expenses, gain, loss, deduction and credit, including without limitation to make or revoke the election referred to in Section 754 of the Code; and
- (k) Subject to the provisions of Section 5.3, to take all other actions, to enter into all other agreements and transactions with any other parties and to execute all other documents and instruments of any kind, which the Manager may deem necessary or appropriate in carrying out the purposes of the Company.
- 5.3 <u>Major Decisions</u>. No Manager, Member, officer, employee, agent or representative of the Company shall have any authority to bind or take any action on behalf of the Company with respect to any Major Decision unless such Major Decision has been approved by a Required Interest of Members. Each of the following matters shall constitute a "<u>Major Decision</u>":(a) any merger, reorganization, consolidation, dissolution or similar restructuring of the Company;
- (b) the sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of assets of the Company other than the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of business;
- (c) entering into a new line of business or expanding the current Business of the Company outside the scope of the Business of the Company as conducted in the ordinary course consistent with past practice;
 - (d) any amendment to this Agreement;
 - (e) the dissolution of the Company pursuant to Section 12.2(a);

- (f) the providing of any guaranty (or other obligations that, in economic effect, are substantially equivalent to a guaranty) of any amount owed by or any obligation of any person;
- (g) the settlement of any claim against the Company for a settlement in excess of the Major Decision Threshold;
- (h) the incurrence of any indebtedness or the creation of any Lien on any property or assets of the Company in excess of the Major Decision Threshold;
 - (i) the redemption of any outstanding Membership Interests;
- (j) any transaction or other undertaking between the Company, a Member or an Affiliate of any of them pursuant to Section 5.11; and
- (k) making any other decision or taking any action with respect to the Company that specifically requires the approval of all of the Members pursuant to this Agreement.

<u>Duties</u>. The Manager and each officer of the Company shall carry out his duties in good faith. The Manager shall devote such time to the business and affairs of the Company as he may determine, in his reasonable discretion, is necessary for the efficient carrying on of the Company's business. The Manager's and officers' duties and liabilities are restricted by the provisions of this Agreement to the extent that any such provisions restrict the duties and liabilities of the Manager and officers otherwise existing at law or in equity.

<u>Payment of Expenses</u>. The Company shall pay (or reimburse the Manager for) all Company Expenses (including Company Expenses incurred directly by the Manager and any others acting for or on behalf of the Company).

<u>Initial Manager as Member</u>. The Manager, in addition to his rights and obligations as the Manager, may invest in the Company as a Member or acquire Membership Interests previously purchased by other Members and, in that event, shall acquire and hold the same rights and obligations as such other Members with respect to those Membership Interests.

The Manager does not need to be a Member.

Removal and Replacement. In the case of the occurrence of Misconduct with respect to the Manager, a Required Interest of Members may elect to remove the Manager and elect a successor Manager (excluding for this purpose a removed Manager if he is also a Member), subject to such successor Manager's compliance with Section Article XI effective upon such removal by providing not less than 60 days' prior written notice to the Manager.

5.8 **Resignation**. The Manager may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Members. Unless otherwise specified in the notice, the resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by the Members, and the acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it **Vacancies**

. In the case of the death of a Manager, the Members agree to designate and elect one of the
following persons as the successor Manager, subject to such successor Manager's compliance
with Section Article XI effective upon such removal by providing not less than 60 days' prior
written notice to the Manager: []. If a Person that is both a Manager and a
Member is removed or resigns as a Manager, such Person shall continue to be a Member in the
Company notwithstanding such Person's removal as the Manager.

Reliance by Third Parties. No third party dealing with the Company shall be required to ascertain whether the Manager or any Company officer is acting in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. All third parties may rely on a document executed by a majority of the Manager or by any Company officer as binding on the Company. The foregoing provisions shall not apply to third parties who are Affiliates or family members of any such Person executing any such document. If the Manager or any officer acts without authority, it shall be liable to the Members for any damages arising out of its unauthorized actions.

Other Business Opportunities; Affiliate Transactions; Conflicts.

- (a) Each Member acknowledges that the Manager, the other Members and their respective Affiliates are or may be active in other business activities and shall, subject to the restrictions under Section 5.3, be free to independently engage, invest or participate for their own account in, and receive the full benefits from, any business or activity, without consulting with the Company or the Members and without offering any right to participate therein to the Company or any other Member.
- (b) [The Manager and its affiliates shall offer to the Company the first right to participate in investments in the Operating Company that are made available to the Company.]
- (c) Except as set forth in clause (b) above, no Member shall be required to make any investment opportunity available to the Company.
- (d) The Manager may, on behalf of the Company, enter into contracts, agreements, undertakings and transactions with Members, or with Persons, firms or corporations having business, financial or other relationships with Members, provided that such transactions with such Persons and entities are on terms no less favorable to the Company than are generally available to unrelated third parties in comparable transactions.
- (e) The Manager and Members, and their respective Affiliates, shall be entitled to earn and retain any fees, salaries, commissions and options customarily paid or granted to directors, employees or independent contractors of the Operating Company.

Standard of Care; Indemnification.

(a) It is understood that the business of the Company involves a high degree of investment and other risk. The Manager and any Company officer shall not have any liability to the Company or any Member for errors in judgment or for acts or omissions made in good faith and reasonably believed to be in the best interest of the Company, except in the case of a Manager, by reason of its intentional fraud, willful misfeasance or gross negligence; provided, however, that the Manager must repay to the Company any amounts paid to them in excess of

those to which it is entitled under the terms of this Agreement. The Manager shall not be liable to the Company or any Member for any tax, or penalty or interest related thereto, imposed upon the Company or any Member so long as the Manager has acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be consistent with this Agreement and in the best interest of the Company.

- To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Manager, Company officers (b) and the respective agents, officers, directors, employees and Affiliates of any of the foregoing to the extent applicable (the "Indemnified Persons" or an "Indemnified Person") shall, in accordance with this Section 5.12, be indemnified and held harmless by the Company from and against (i) all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, expenses, and other amounts arising from any claims (including reasonable legal expenses), demands, actions, suits or proceedings (civil, criminal, administrative or investigative), in which they may be involved, as a party or otherwise, by reason of their management of the affairs of the Company, or rendering of advice or consultation with respect thereto, or which relate to the Company, its properties, business or affairs including acting as a director of the Operating Company (but only after first exhausting the indemnification provided to such Indemnified Person by the Operating Company and then only to the extent that full indemnification is not provided by the Operating Company, and in such event the Company shall be subrogated to the right of indemnity from the Operating Company), whether or not they continue to be such at the time any such liability or expense is paid or incurred if such Indemnified Person acted in good faith and in a manner such Indemnified Person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company, and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct of such Indemnified Person was unlawful; and (ii) any threatened, pending, or completed action by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such Indemnified Person is or was an agent of the Company, against expenses actually or reasonably incurred by such Indemnified Person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action, if such Indemnified Person acted in good faith and in a manner such Indemnified Person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company except that indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such Indemnified Person shall have been adjudged to be liable for misconduct in the performance of the Indemnified Person's duty to the Company only to the extent that the court in which such action or suit was brought, or another court of appropriate jurisdiction, determines upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability, but in view of all circumstances of the case, such Indemnified Person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which such court shall deem proper.
- (c) No Indemnified Person shall be entitled to indemnification hereunder for any conduct arising from the intentional fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person.
- (d) Expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by an Indemnified Person in a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding shall be paid by the Company (or, following dissolution of the Company, the Members) in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding, in each case within 30 days after bills or invoices for such expenses are submitted to the Company by the Indemnified Person; provided that such expenses will not be so advanced in connection with an action, suit or proceeding brought against the Indemnified Persons by a

Required Interest of Members; and provided further that the Indemnified Person to be advanced such expenses shall agree in writing that, if it is later determined that such Indemnified Person was not entitled to indemnification with respect to such action, suit or proceeding by reason of Section 5.12(c), then such Indemnified Person shall reimburse the Company (or, following dissolution of the Company, the Members) for such advances within ten (10) Business Days following the final disposition of the action, suit or proceeding with respect to which such advance is being requested, with interest at the Prime Rate, determined as of the date of such advance. Expenses incurred by an Indemnified Person in any such action, suit or proceeding shall be presumed reasonable unless and until such presumption is rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.

- (e) The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the Indemnified Person did not act in good faith and in a manner which the Indemnified Person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company or that the Indemnified Person had reasonable cause to believe that the Indemnified Person's conduct was unlawful.
- (f) The indemnification provided by this Section 5.12 shall not be deemed to be exclusive of any other rights to which the Indemnified Person may be entitled under any agreement, or as a matter of law, or otherwise, both as to action in an Indemnified Person's official capacity and to action in another capacity, and shall continue as to an Indemnified Person who has ceased to have an official capacity for acts or omissions during such official capacity or otherwise when acting at the request of the Manager and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors and administrators of such Indemnified Persons.
- (g) To the extent that the Indemnified Person has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceedings referred to herein, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, the Indemnified Person shall be indemnified by the Company against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the Indemnified Person in connection therewith and not already advanced to the Indemnified Person pursuant to Section 5.12.
- (h) The Manager shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of the Manager and the Indemnified Persons at the expense of the Company, against any liability asserted against or incurred by them in any such capacity or arising out of the Manager's status as such, whether or not the Company would have the power to indemnify the Indemnified Persons against such liability under the provisions of this Agreement.
- (i) The Manager may rely upon and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, bond, debenture, or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.
- (j) The Manager may consult with counsel, accountants and other experts reasonably selected by it, and any opinion of an independent counsel, accountant or expert retained and supervised by the Manager with reasonable care, shall be full and complete

protection in respect of any action taken or suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with such opinion.

(k) No Indemnified Person may satisfy any right of indemnity or reimbursement granted in this Section 5.12 or to which it may be otherwise entitled except out of the assets of the Company, and no Member shall be personally liable with respect to any such claim for indemnity or reimbursement.

Article VI MEMBERS

No Control by the Members; Rights of the Members. Except as is specifically permitted by this Agreement and as is specifically required by the Act, the Members, in such capacity, shall not take part in the control or management of the affairs of the Company, and a Member, in such capacity, shall not have any authority to act for or on behalf of the Company.

<u>Limited Liability</u>. The liability of each Member shall be limited as provided by the Act. No Member other than the Manager shall take part in the control, management, direction or operation of the affairs of the Company, unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, or specifically required under the Act, or shall have any power to bind the Company in their capacity as Members.

Quorum and Voting. Except as otherwise stated below, a Required Interest of Members, represented in person or by proxy, shall be necessary to constitute a quorum at meetings of the Members. One or more Members may participate in a meeting of the Members by means of conference telephone or similar communication equipment by which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time, and such participation shall constitute presence in person at the meeting. If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a Required Interest of Members for matters put to a vote of the Members, in each case present at the meeting or represented by proxy shall be the act of the Members unless a greater number is required by the Act or this Agreement. In the absence of a quorum, those present may adjourn the meeting for any period, but in no event shall such period exceed 60 days.

Action by Written Consent. Any vote or other action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of Members may be taken without a meeting if the action is evidenced by a written consent describing the action taken signed by a Required Interest of Members unless this Agreement requires the approval of a greater number for such action to be taken, in which case such written consent must be signed by the requisite number required to approve such action. Action taken under this Section 6.4 shall be effective when the required number of Members whose consent is required for such action have signed the consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. Any Member that did not execute any such consent shall be provided with reasonably prompt written notice of any such action so taken; provided, that the failure to provide such notice shall not invalidate such action.

Meetings.

(a) Meetings of the Members for any purpose or purposes may be called only by the Manager. The Manager may designate the place for any meeting.

- (b) Written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting, and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered pursuant to Section 13.1, by or at the direction of the Manager, to each Member of record entitled to vote at such Meeting. Meetings of the Members may be called upon not less than 5 calendar days' written notice.
- (c) At all meetings of Members, a Member may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by the Member or by his duly authorized attorney-in-fact. Such proxy shall be filed with the Manager before or at the time of the meeting. No proxy shall be valid after 11 months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy.
- (d) At each meeting of the Members, the Members may, but shall not be required to, elect a chairman for that particular meeting by the vote of a Required Interest of Members represented at the meeting. The chairman shall preside over and conduct the meeting and shall appoint someone in attendance to make accurate minutes of the meeting. Following each meeting, the minutes of the meeting shall be sent to each Member.
- (e) No Member shall be entitled to compensation for attendance at Member meetings or for time spent in its or his capacity as a Member.

No State-Law Partnership. The Members intend that the Company not be a partnership (including a limited partnership) or joint venture, and that no Member or Manager be a partner or joint venturer of any other Member or Manager, for any purposes other than federal and state tax purposes, and this Agreement may not be construed to suggest otherwise. Except as otherwise required by the Act or other applicable Law, and expressly this Agreement, no Member shall have any fiduciary duty to any other Member.

Tax Matters.

- (a) David Levy is hereby designated as the initial "tax matters partner" as such term is defined in section 6231(a)(7) of the Code. The appointment of any successor tax matters partner shall be approved by the Members. Subject to the provisions hereof, the tax matters partner is authorized and required to represent the Company in connection with all examinations of the Company's affairs by tax authorities, including resulting administrative and judicial proceedings, and to expend Company funds for professional services and costs associated therewith. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the tax matters partner shall promptly notify all Members of the commencement of any audit, investigation or other proceeding concerning the tax treatment of Company tax items and shall keep all Members adequately informed of such proceedings.
- (b) The tax matters partner and the Manager shall make or cause to be made all available elections as required by the Code and the Treasury Regulations to cause the Company to be classified as a partnership for federal income tax purposes.

Article VII DISTRIBUTIONS TO THE MEMBERS

<u>Discretionary Distribution to Pay Tax</u>. On or before the date upon which the Members are required to make each payment of their federal estimated income taxes, prior to

making any distributions under Section 7.2, the Company may in the sole discretion of the Manager (but shall not be required to) make distributions out of Available Cash to each Member for purposes of covering the amount of such estimated income taxes. The amount of any distributions to a Member pursuant to this Section 7.1 shall be treated as an advance against and shall be applied to reduce distributions that such Member would otherwise be entitled to receive under this Agreement.

Ordinary Distributions. Distributable Assets will be distributed as follows:

- (a) First, one hundred percent (100%) to the Members (and among them in proportion to their relative Unpaid Preferred Distribution amounts) until such time as the Unpaid Preferred Distribution of each Member is reduced to zero; and
- (b) Second, one hundred percent (100%) to the Members (and among them in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests).
- 7.3 <u>Liquidity Event and Liquidation Proceeds</u>. Subject to Section 12.3, and except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, Distributable Assets with respect to distributions the Company receives upon the sale, merger or other acquisition of the Operating Company (or the Company's interests therein), together with any other Company assets available for distribution in connection with the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or on the liquidation of the Company, will be distributed as follows:
- (a) First, one hundred percent (100%) to the Members (and among them in proportion to their relative Unpaid Preferred Distribution amounts) until such time as the Unpaid Preferred Distribution of each Member is reduced to zero; and
- (b) Second, one hundred percent (100%) to the Members (and among them in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests).

Distributions in Kind and of Non-Cash Assets. During the existence of the Company, no Member shall be entitled to receive as distributions from the Company any Company asset other than cash except as otherwise set forth herein with respect to Non-Cash Assets. If the Manager distributes a Non-Cash Asset, then the Manager shall distribute such Non-Cash Asset directly to the Member who contributed such Non-Cash Asset to the Company and such Non-Cash Asset shall not be distributed to other Members. The Manager may, in its sole discretion, distribute Distributable Assets in kind in the priority set forth in Section 7.2; provided that for purposes of this Section 7.4, a distribution of a Distributable Asset, including an undivided interest in a Distributable Asset, to a Member shall be treated as if the asset had been sold for its fair value, any gain or loss (determined with respect to its Carrying Value) had been allocated pursuant to the applicable provisions of Article VIII, and an amount equal to the fair market value of such asset or undivided interest had been distributed under the applicable provisions of this Article VII. Each class of Securities that is distributed shall be distributed to the Members in proportion to the relative amounts the Members are entitled to receive with respect to the distribution being made, except to the extent that a disproportionate distribution of Securities is necessary in order to avoid distributing fractional shares. For purposes of the

preceding sentence, each lot of stock or other Securities having a separately identifiable tax basis or holding period will be treated as a separate class of Securities. In-kind distributions of assets in connection with the dissolution and winding-up of the Company shall be governed by Article XII.

Article VIII ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES

In General.

- (a) This Article provides for the allocation among the Members of Profit and Loss for purposes of crediting and debiting the Capital Accounts of the Members. Article IX provides for the allocation among the Members of taxable income and tax losses.
- (b) Subject to Section 8.1(c), and except as provided in Sections 8.2 and 8.3, all Profits and Losses shall be allocated among the Members as follows:
- (i) Profits. Except as provided in Section 8.1(b)(iii), Profits shall be allocated:
- (A) First, to the extent any Member has a deficit Capital Account balance, to such Members in proportion to such deficit balances until the deficit Capital Account balance of each member has been eliminated; and
- (B) Thereafter, to the Members (and among them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests).
- (ii) <u>Losses</u>. Except as provided in Section 8.1(b)(iii), Losses shall be allocated:
- (A) First, to the Members, and proportionately among them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests, until the Capital Account balance of each Member equals zero; and
- (B) Thereafter, to the Members (and among them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests).
- (iii) <u>Sale or Liquidation</u>. Upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company (including, without limitation, on the sale, merger or other acquisition of the Operating Company or the Company's interests therein) or the liquidation of the Company, Profits and Losses (or, as necessary, individual items of Profit and Loss) shall be allocated as follows:
- (A) First, to the extent any Member has a deficit Capital Account balance, Profits shall be allocated to such Members, (and among them in proportion to the relative amounts of such deficit Capital Account balances) until the deficit Capital Account balance of each Member has been eliminated;

- (B) Second, to the Members (and among them in proportion to the relative aggregate amounts allocable to them under this Section 8.1(b)(iii)(B)) to the extent necessary to cause each Member's Capital Account balance to equal such Member's Unpaid Preferred Distribution:
- (C) Thereafter, to the Members (and among them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests).
- (iv) <u>Interpretation</u>. For the avoidance of doubt, upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or the liquidation of the Company, the allocations in Section 8.1(b)(iii) are intended to cause the Capital Account balance of each Member, after giving effect to such allocations, to equal the amount distributable to the Member at that time under Section 7.2, and shall be applied in accordance with that intent.
- (c) Allocations under Section 8.1(b) shall be made after making and adjusting the Members' Capital Accounts for all distributions made under Article VII through the date with respect to which the allocations are being made.

Regulatory Allocations and Other Allocation Rules. Notwithstanding Sections 8.1 and 8.3:

- (a) <u>Loss Limitation</u>. The Losses allocated pursuant to Section 8.1 shall not exceed the maximum amount of Losses that can be so allocated without causing such Member to have an Adjusted Capital Account Deficit at the end of any fiscal year. In the event some but not all of the Members would have Adjusted Capital Account Deficits as a consequence of an allocation of Losses pursuant to Section 8.1, the limitation set forth in this Section 8.2(a) shall be applied on a Member by Member basis so as to allocate the maximum permissible Losses to each Member under Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) of the Treasury Regulations. All Losses in excess of the limitations set forth in this Section 8.2(a) shall be allocated to the Members in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests. This Section 8.2(a) shall be interpreted consistently with the loss limitation provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d).
- (b) <u>Minimum Gain Chargeback</u>. Except as otherwise provided in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(f), if there is a net decrease in partnership minimum gain (as defined in Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(b)(2) and 1.704-2(d)(1)) during any fiscal year, each Member shall be specially allocated items of Company income and gain for such fiscal year (and, if necessary, subsequent fiscal years) in an amount and in the manner required by Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(f) and 1.704-2(j)(2). This Section 8.2(b) shall be interpreted consistently with the "minimum gain" provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2 related to nonrecourse liabilities (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(3)).
- (c) <u>Member Minimum Gain Chargeback</u>. Except as otherwise provided in Treasury Regulation § 1.704-2(i)(4), if there is a net decrease in partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain (as defined in Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(i)(2) and 1.704-2(i)(3)) attributable to partner nonrecourse debt (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4)) during any fiscal year, each Member who has a share of the partner nonrecourse debt minimum

gain attributable to such Member's partner nonrecourse debt, determined in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(5), shall be specially allocated items of Company income and gain for such fiscal year (and, if necessary, subsequent fiscal years) in an amount and in the manner required by Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(i)(4) and 1.704-2(j)(2). This Section 8.2(c) shall be interpreted consistently with the "minimum gain" provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2 related to partner nonrecourse liabilities (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4)).

- (d) Qualified Income Offset. In the event any Member unexpectedly receives any adjustments, allocations, or distributions described in Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(5) or 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6), items of Company income and gain shall be specially allocated to such Member in an amount and manner sufficient to eliminate, to the extent required by the Treasury Regulations, the Adjusted Capital Account Deficit, if any, of such Member as quickly as possible. This Section 8.2(d) shall be interpreted consistently with the "qualified income offset" provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d).
- (e) <u>Nonrecourse Deductions</u>. Any non-recourse deduction (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(1)) for any fiscal year shall be allocated to the Members in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests.
- (f) <u>Member Nonrecourse Deductions</u>. Any partner nonrecourse deductions (as defined in Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(i)(1) and 1.704-2(i)(2)) for any fiscal year shall be specially allocated to the Member who bears the economic risk of loss with respect to the partner nonrecourse debt (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4)) to which such Member nonrecourse deductions are attributable in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(1).
- (g) Section 754 Adjustments. To the extent an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any Company asset is required pursuant to Code Section 732(d), Code Section 734(b) or Code Section 743(b), the Capital Accounts of the Members shall be adjusted pursuant to Treasury Regulations $\S 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)$.
- (h) <u>Curative Allocations</u>. The allocations under Sections 8.2(a) through 8.2(f) (the "<u>Regulatory Allocations</u>") are intended to comply with certain requirements of the Treasury Regulations. It is the intent of the Members that, to the extent possible, all Regulatory Allocations shall be offset either with other Regulatory Allocations or with special allocations of other items of Company income, gain, loss or deduction pursuant to this Article VIII. Therefore, notwithstanding any other provision this Article VIII (other than the Regulatory Allocations), the Company shall make such offsetting special allocations of Company income, gain, loss or deduction in whatever manner it determines appropriate so that, after such offsetting allocations are made, each Member's Capital Account balance is, to the extent possible, equal to the Capital Account balance such Member would have had if the Regulatory Allocations were not part of this Agreement and all Company items were allocated pursuant to Section 8.1. In exercising its discretion under this Section 8.2(a) through 8.2(f) that are likely to offset other Regulatory Allocations previously made.

Other Allocation Rules.

- (a) Profits, Losses, and any other items allocable to any period shall be determined on a daily, monthly, or other basis, as determined by the Manager using any permissible method under Code Section 706 and the Regulations thereunder.
- (b) Solely for purposes of determining a Member's proportionate share of the "excess nonrecourse liabilities" of the Company within the meaning of Treasury Regulations § 1.752 3(a)(3), the Members' interests in Profits shall be their respective Percentage Interests.
- (c) To the extent permitted by Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(h)(3), the Company shall treat distributions of Available Cash as having been made from the proceeds of a nonrecourse liability (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(3)) or a partner nonrecourse debt (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4)) only to the extent that such distributions would not cause or increase an Adjusted Capital Account Deficit for any Member.

Article IX ALLOCATION OF TAXABLE INCOME AND TAX LOSSES

Allocation of Taxable Income and Tax Losses. Except as provided in Sections 9.2 and 9.3, each item of income, gain, loss and deduction of the Company for federal income tax purposes shall be allocated among the Members in the same manner as such item is allocated for book purposes under Article VIII.

Allocation of Section 704(c) Items. The Members recognize that with respect to property contributed to the Company by a Member and with respect to property revalued in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f) (referred to as "Adjusted Properties"), there will be a difference between the agreed values or Carrying Values, as the case may be, of such property at the time of contribution or revaluation, as the case may be, and the adjusted tax basis of such property at that time. All items of tax depreciation, cost recovery, depletion, amortization and gain or loss with respect to such contributed properties and Adjusted Properties shall be allocated among the Members to take into account the book-tax disparities with respect to such properties in accordance with the provisions of Sections 704(b) and 704(c) of the Code and Treasury Regulations § 1.704-3(b)(1). Any gain or loss attributable to a contributed property or an Adjusted Property (exclusive of gain or loss allocated to eliminate such book-tax disparities under the immediately preceding sentence) shall be allocated in the same manner as such gain or loss would be allocated for book purposes under Article VIII.

<u>Integration with Section 754 Election</u>. All items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credits recognized by the Company for federal income tax purposes and allocated to the Members in accordance with the provisions hereof and all basis allocations to the Members shall be determined without regard to any election under Section 754 of the Code that may be made by the Company; *provided, however*, such allocations, once made, shall be adjusted as necessary or appropriate to take into account the adjustments permitted by Sections 734 and 743 of the Code.

Allocation of Tax Credits

. The tax credits, if any, with respect to the Company's property or operations shall be allocated among the Members in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(4)(ii).

Article X ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Books. The Manager shall cause the Company to maintain complete and accurate books of account of the Company's affairs at the principal office of the Company. The Company's books shall be kept in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, and on an accrual basis method of accounting. Subject to the requirements of applicable Law, the fiscal year of the Company shall end on December 31 of each year.

Capital Accounts.

- (a) The Manager shall cause the Company to maintain a separate capital account for each Member and such other Member accounts as may be necessary or desirable to comply with the requirements of applicable Law ("Capital Accounts"). Each Member's Capital Account shall be maintained in accordance with the provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv). With respect to the Manager, to the extent such Member holds Membership Interests in its capacity as a Member, the Manager shall maintain a Capital Account with respect to the Manager's Membership Interest(s) separate from the Capital Account attributable to the Membership Interests of the Manager in that capacity;
- (b) Consistent with and as permitted in the provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f), the Capital Accounts of all Members and the Carrying Values of all Company properties may (as determined by the Manager) be adjusted upwards or downwards to reflect any unrealized gain or unrealized loss with respect to such Company property (as if such unrealized gain or unrealized loss had been recognized upon an actual sale of such property for the amount of its fair market value immediately prior to the event giving rise to revaluation under this Section 10.2(b), and had been allocated among the Members pursuant to Article VIII). In determining such unrealized gain or unrealized loss, the fair market value of Company properties as of the date of determination shall be determined by the Manager.
- (c) A transferee of a Company Interest shall succeed to the Capital Account attributable to the Company Interest Transferred, except that if the Transfer causes a termination of the Company under Section 708(b)(1)(B) of the Code, Treasury Regulations § 1.708-1(b) shall apply.

Valuation of Securities and Other Assets Owned by the Company.

- (a) Subject to the specific standards set forth below, the valuation of Securities and other assets and liabilities under this Agreement shall be at fair market value, as determined by the Manager in its discretion. In determining the value of the interest of any Member or in any accounting between the Members, no value shall be placed on the goodwill or the name of the Company.
- (b) The value of the Company's assets shall be determined in accordance with GAAP and in conformity with the provisions of the Accounting Standards Codification, Topic

- 820, *Fair Value Management*, in such manner as the Manager may deem fair and reasonable. In calculating the value of assets, the Manager may use particular pricing services, brokers, market makers or other intermediaries as the Manager shall determine. The assets and investments of the Company shall be valued by the Manager in accordance with the foregoing and the following guidelines, and all such values are final and conclusive as to all Members:
- (i) If the asset being valued is an interest in another partnership or other entity in which the Company has invested, the value of such interest shall be the value attributed to such interest under the terms of the instruments governing said partnership or entity as reported by its administrators or officers, as of such date as shall be determined to be appropriate by the Manager.
- (ii) Listed Securities, including derivatives, will be valued at their last sales price on the date of determination, or, if no sales occurred on such date, at the mean between the "bid" and "asked" prices at the close of trading on such date on such exchange.
- (iii) Securities not traded on a national securities exchange, but traded over the counter shall be valued at the "bid" prices for long positions and "asked" prices for short positions on the date as of which the value is being determined except that those Securities quoted on the National Market System shall be valued at the last price as reported by NASDAQ, or if such prices are not reported by NASDAQ, as reported by the Pink OTC Markets Inc. or successor entity; provided that the valuation of options not traded on a national securities exchange may be determined from any reliable source selected by the Manager.
- (iv) The value of illiquid or impaired Securities will (in conformity with the provisions of the Accounting Standards Codification, Topic 820, *Fair Value Measurement*) be at a value believed to be the price at which the Security would be sold in an orderly transaction in a principal market.
- (v) Over-the-counter option and swap transactions entered into with a counterparty shall be valued in accordance with the option's or the swap's terms by the counterparty in good faith in a commercially reasonable manner.
- (vi) Short term money market instruments and bank deposits shall be valued at cost plus accrued interest to date.
- (vii) All other Securities and assets of the Company will be assigned a fair value as the Manager may reasonably determine in consultation with such industry professionals and other third parties as the Manager deems appropriate in its discretion. In addition, the Manager reserves the right to adjust the valuations of any Security to reflect discounts for illiquidity, restrictions upon marketability, differences between the market value and the basis of the assets for federal income tax purposes or other factors affecting the value of assets or influencing the reality of a sale occurring at quoted prices.
- (viii) If on the date as of which any valuation is being made, the exchange or market herein designated for the valuation of any given assets is not open for business, the valuation of such assets shall be determined as of the last preceding date on which such exchange or market was open for business.

Transfers During Year

. In order to avoid an interim closing of the Company's books, the allocation of Profits and Losses under Article VIII between a Member who Transfers part or all of its Company Interest during the Company's accounting year and his transferee, or to a Member whose percentage interests in Profits and Losses varies during the course of the Company's accounting year, may be determined pursuant to any method chosen by the Manager; *provided, however*, that any Profit or Loss attributable to extraordinary items related to the sale of Company property shall be allocated to the owner of the interest in the Company at the time the Profit or Loss attributable to the extraordinary item was realized.

Reports. The Manager shall cause the Company to deliver to the Members the following financial statements and reports at the times indicated below:

- (a) The Manager provide each Member annual review of the Company's investment or other asset held by the Company and unaudited financial statements for the Company prepared in accordance with GAAP. Such review will also include a discussion by the Manager regarding the activities of the Company and the Operating Company and their respective operating and financial results.
- (b) The Manager shall send to each Person who was a Member in the Company at any time during the fiscal year then ended reviewed annual financial statements for the Company (including a statement of each Member's Capital Account at the end of such fiscal year), and annual tax information necessary for completion of individual tax returns, including Forms K-1.
- (c) The financial reports, tax returns and forms described in Sections 10.5(a) and 10.5(b) are dependent upon information to be provided to the Manager by the third parties. Therefore, notwithstanding the foregoing time periods, the Manager may furnish such reports, tax returns and forms to the Members after the expiration of such time periods, but as soon as reasonably practical, following receipt of all financial and other information necessary or desirable to prepare such documents.

<u>Section 754 Election</u>. The Manager may, in its sole discretion, determine whether the Company shall make the election provided for under Section 754 of the Code. Any such election shall be at the sole cost and expense of the Company.

<u>Inspection of Documents</u>. Each Member shall have the right to inspect, review, make copies of, and audit all agreements, documents, records and reports relating to the business of the Company prepared by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the performance of its duties hereunder, in each case at such Member's expense during reasonable business hours and with at least five Business Days prior written notice to the Manager.

Article XI TRANSFER OF MEMBER'S INTEREST

Restrictions on Transfers and Liens. No Member shall Transfer or create a Lien on all or any portion of its Membership Interest except as permitted by this Article XI. Any attempted Transfer of, or creation of a Lien on, any portion of a Membership Interest not in accordance with the terms of this Article XI shall be null and void and of no legal effect.

Permitted Transfers.

Any Transfers and Liens permitted under this Section 11.2 shall be subject to the other provisions of this Article XI. The following Transfers and Liens shall be permitted.

- (a) To the extent not otherwise permitted by clauses (b), (c) or (d) below, a Member may Transfer all or any portion of its Membership Interest only in the sole and absolute discretion, and with the written approval, of the Manager;
- (b) A Member may Transfer all or any portion of its Membership Interest to any other Member;
- (c) A Member may Transfer all or any portion of its Membership Interest to an Affiliate of such Member without the consent of the Manager or any other Member *provided* that such Affiliate is an Accredited Investor; and
- (d) A Member who is a natural person may Transfer all or a portion of his or her Membership Interest for the benefit of one or more Relatives (<u>e.g.</u>, Transfers to family trusts or family partnerships, limited partnerships, limited liability companies, or limited liability limited partnerships).

Substitution of a Member.

- (a) No transferee (by voluntary or involuntary conveyance, foreclosure, dissolution of marriage, operation of law or otherwise) of all or any portion of a Company Interest shall become a substituted Member without the consent of the Manager, which consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of the Manager. A transferee of a Company Interest who receives the requisite consent to become a Member shall succeed to all of the rights and interest of its transferor in the Company as well as the voting and other rights of a Member if such rights were not held by the transferor. A transferee of a Member who does not receive the requisite consent to become a Member shall not have any right to vote, shall be entitled only to the distributions to which its transferor otherwise would have been entitled and shall have no other right to participate in the management of the business and affairs of the Company or to become a Member.
- (b) If a Member shall be dissolved, merged or consolidated, its successor in interest shall have the same obligations and rights to profits or other compensation that such Member would have had if it had not been dissolved, merged or consolidated, except that the representative or successor shall not become a substituted Member without the consent of the Manager, which consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of the Manager. Such a successor in interest who receives the requisite consent to become a Member shall succeed to all of the rights and interests of its predecessor as well as the voting and other rights of a Member if such rights were not held by the predecessor. A successor in interest who does not receive the requisite consent to become a Member shall not have any right to vote, shall be entitled only to the distributions to which its predecessor otherwise would have been entitled and shall have no right to participate in the management of the business and affairs of the Company or to become a Member.
- (c) No Transfer of any Company Interest otherwise permitted under this Agreement shall be effective for any purpose whatsoever until the transferee shall have assumed

the transferor's obligations to the extent of the Company Interest that is Transferred, and shall have agreed to be bound by all the terms and conditions hereof, by written instrument, duly acknowledged, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Manager. Without limiting the foregoing, any transferee that has not become a substituted Member shall nonetheless be bound by the provisions of this Article XI with respect to any subsequent Transfer. Upon admission of the transferee as a substituted Member, the transferor shall have no further obligations under this Agreement with respect to that portion of its Company Interest that is Transferred to the transferee; *provided*, *however*, no Member or former Member shall be released, either in whole or in part, from any liability of such Member to the Company pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise which has accrued through the date of such Transfer (whether as the result of a voluntary or involuntary Transfer) of all or part of such Member's Company Interest unless the Manager agrees to any such release.

<u>Conditions to Substitution</u>. As conditions to its admission as a Member (a) any assignee, transferee or successor of a Member shall execute and deliver such instruments, in form and substance satisfactory to the Manager, as the Manager shall deem necessary, and (b) such assignee, transferee or successor shall pay all reasonable expenses in connection with its admission as a substituted Member.

Admission as a Member. No Person shall be admitted to the Company as a Member unless either (a) the Membership Interest or part thereof acquired by such Person has been registered under the Securities Act, and any applicable state securities Laws or (b) the Manager has received a favorable opinion of the transferor's legal counsel or of other legal counsel acceptable to the Manager to the effect that the Transfer of the Membership Interest to such Person is exempt from registration under those Laws. The Manager, however, may waive the requirements of this Section 11.5.

Article XII WITHDRAWAL, DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION

<u>Withdrawal</u>. No Member shall have any right to voluntarily resign from the Company. When a transferee of all or any portion of a Membership Interest becomes a substituted Member pursuant to Section 11.3, the transferring Member shall cease to be a Member with respect to the portion of the Membership Interest so Transferred.

<u>Dissolution</u>. The Company shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of any of the following:

- (a) The written determination of the Manager;
- (b) The sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
- (c) The sale, acquisition or dissolution and final liquidation of the Operating Company.

<u>Liquidation</u>. Upon dissolution of the Company, the Manager shall appoint in writing one or more liquidators (who may be Members or the Manager) who shall have full authority to wind up the affairs of the Company and to make a final distribution as provided

herein. The liquidator shall continue to operate the Company properties with all of the power and authority of the Manager. The steps to be accomplished by the liquidator are as follows:

- (a) As promptly as possible after dissolution and again after final liquidation, the liquidator shall cause a proper accounting to be made by the Company's independent accountants of the Company's assets, liabilities and operations through the last day of the month in which the dissolution occurs or the final liquidation is completed, as appropriate, including in such accounting the Profit or Loss resulting from the actual or deemed sale or distribution of the Company's properties, as provided in Section 10.2(b).
- (b) The liquidator shall pay all of the debts and liabilities of the Company or otherwise make adequate provision therefor (including, without limitation, the establishment of a cash escrow fund for contingent liabilities in such amount and for such term as the liquidator may reasonably determine). The liquidator shall then, by payment of cash or property (at the election of the liquidator, and, in the case of property, valued as of the date of termination of the Company at its fair market value by an appraiser selected by the liquidator), distribute all remaining amounts to the Members in accordance with their respective Capital Account Balances. For purposes of this Article XII, a distribution of an asset or an undivided interest in an asset in-kind to a Member shall be considered a distribution of an amount equal to the fair market value of such asset or undivided interest. Each Member shall have the right to designate another Person to receive any property that otherwise would be distributed in kind to that Member pursuant to this Section 12.3.
- (c) Any real property distributed to the Members shall be conveyed by special warranty deed and shall be subject to the operating agreements and all Liens, contracts and commitments then in effect with respect to such property, which shall be assumed by the Members receiving such real property.
- (d) Except as expressly provided herein, the liquidator shall comply with any applicable requirements of the Act and all other applicable Laws pertaining to the winding up of the affairs of the Company and the final distribution of its assets. Liquidation of the Company shall be completed within the time limits imposed by Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii) and (g).
- (e) The distribution of cash or property to the Members in accordance with the provisions of this Section 12.3 shall satisfy each Member's rights with respect to the Member's respective Capital Contributions and interests in the profits of the Company, and shall constitute a complete distribution to the Members of their respective interests in the Company and all Company property. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, no Member shall have any obligation to contribute to the Company, pay to any other Member or pay to any other Person any deficit balance in such Member's Capital Account.

<u>Articles of Dissolution</u>. Upon the completion of the distribution of the Company's assets as provided in this Article XII, the Company shall be terminated and the Person acting as liquidator shall file a articles of dissolution and shall take such other actions as may be necessary to terminate the Company.

Article XIII NOTICES

Method of Notices. All notices required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered, sent by registered or certified mail or by nationally recognized overnight courier, or by facsimile or other electronic transmission (including electronic mail). Any such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been delivered and received (a) in the case of personal delivery, on the date of such delivery, (b) in the case of registered or certified mail, on the third Business Day following that on which the piece of mail containing such communication is posted, (c) in the case of a nationally recognized overnight courier in circumstances under which such courier guarantees next Business Day delivery, on the next Business Day after the date sent, and (d) in the case of facsimile or electronic transmission (including electronic mail), on the date sent if such date is a Business Day or on the next Business Day if the date sent is not a Business Day. Any such communication shall be sent to the Members at their respective addresses set forth in their Subscription Documents, and to the Company and Manager at the following:

[Newco]	Beechwood Reinve	stment, LLC
]
]
	Attn: Manager	
	Email: [_]
	Facsimile: []

Any Member or Manager may give notice from time to time changing its respective address for that purpose.

<u>Computation of Time</u>. In computing any period of time under this Agreement, the day of the act, event or default from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. The last day of the period so computed shall be included, unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in which event the period shall run until the end of the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday.

Article XIV GENERAL PROVISIONS

Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by the Manager that has been approved by a Required Interest of Members in accordance with this Agreement unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the above, any amendment that has a material adverse effect on the Capital Account of any Member, imposes on a Member an obligation to make additional Capital Contributions or adversely affects a Member's rights under this Agreement shall not be effective against such Member without the prior written consent of such Member (such consent may not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that the admittance of new Members or the dilution of the Percentage Interests or other rights of Members occasioned by the increase in Membership Interests in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the admittance of such

new Members shall not constitute an adverse effect on a Member for purposes of this Section 14.1.

Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Delaware as applied to agreements among Delaware residents made and to be performed entirely within Delaware. Any action, proceeding or dispute arising hereunder, or concerning the subject matter of this Agreement must be commenced, prosecuted and adjudicated in the state or federal courts located in New York City, New York. Each Member irrevocably consents to personal jurisdiction in New York City, New York, and irrevocably waives any objection such person may have based on personal jurisdiction, improper venue or inconvenient forum.

<u>Waiver</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein, rights hereunder may not be waived except by an instrument in writing signed by the party sought to be charged with the waiver.

Power of Attorney.

- (a) Each Member, by becoming a party to and agreeing to be bound by this Agreement, irrevocably constitutes and appoints, with full power of substitution, the Manager its true and lawful attorney-in-fact with full power and authority, in its name, place and stead to execute, certify, acknowledge, deliver, swear to, file and record at the appropriate public offices such documents as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of this Agreement, including but not limited to:
- (i) all certificates and other instruments (including counterparts of this Agreement and the Certificate of Formation), and any amendments thereto, which the Manager deems necessary to form, qualify or continue the Company as a limited liability company (or another entity in which the Members will have limited liability comparable to that provided by the Act on the Effective Date) in any jurisdiction in which the Company may conduct business,
- (ii) any other instrument or document which may be required to be filed by the Company under the Laws of any state or other jurisdiction or which the Manager deem advisable to file to qualify the Company to do business therein or to comply with applicable Law;
- (iii) any instrument or document, including amendments to this Agreement and the Certificate of Formation, which may be required to effect the continuation of the Company, the admission of any Member, or the dissolution and termination of the Company; *provided* that such continuation, admission or dissolution and termination are in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; and
- (iv) all elections that may be made by the Company or the Members in respect of the Company under the Code.
- (b) The appointment by each Member of the Manager as its attorney-in-fact is irrevocable and shall be deemed to be a power coupled with an interest, in recognition of the fact that each of the Members under this Agreement will be relying upon the power of the Manager

to act as contemplated by this Agreement in any filing and other action by the Manager on behalf of the Company, and shall survive and not be affected by the subsequent bankruptcy, insolvency or dissolution of any Member hereby giving such power and the Transfer or assignment of all or any part of the Membership Interest of such Member; *provided*, *however*, that in the event of the Transfer by a Member of all or any part of its Membership Interest, the foregoing power of attorney of the transferor shall survive such Transfer only until such time, if any, as the transferee shall have been admitted to the Company as a Member and all required documents and instruments shall have been duly executed to effect such substitution. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 14.4, the power of attorney granted pursuant to this Section 14.4 does not empower the Manager to exercise such power to take any action that is not otherwise permitted under this Agreement, or that requires the consent of any Member unless such consent has been given by such Member.

Confidentiality. Each Member will keep confidential and not use, reveal, provide or transfer to any third party any Confidential Information it obtains or has obtained concerning the Company, except (a) to the extent that disclosure to a third party is required by applicable Law; (b) information which, at the time of disclosure, is generally available to the public (other than as a result of a breach of this Agreement or any other confidentiality agreement to which such Person is a party or of which it has actual knowledge), as evidenced by generally available documents or publications; (c) information that was in its possession prior to disclosure (as evidenced by appropriate written materials) and was not acquired directly or indirectly from the Company; (d) to the extent disclosure is necessary or advisable, to its or the Company's employees, consultants or advisors for the purpose of carrying out their duties hereunder; (e) to banks or other financial institutions or agencies or any independent accountants or legal counsel or investment advisors employed by the Manager, the Company or any Member, to the extent disclosure is necessary or advisable to obtain financing; (f) to the extent necessary, disclosure to third parties to enforce this Agreement, or (g) to a Member or Manager or to their respective Affiliates; provided, however, that in each case of disclosure pursuant to (d), (e) or (g), the Persons to whom disclosure is made agree to be bound by this confidentiality provision. The obligation of each Member and Manager not to disclose Confidential Information except as provided herein shall not be affected by the termination of this Agreement or the replacement of the Manager or any Member.

Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the Laws of the State of Delaware, excluding its conflicts of laws rules.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement embodies the entire understanding and agreement among the parties concerning the Company and supersedes any and all prior negotiations, understandings or agreements in regard thereto.

<u>Counterparts</u>. This instrument may be executed and delivered (including by facsimile with written confirmation of receipt (or other electronic transmission)) in any number of counterparts each of which shall be considered an original.

Additional Documents. The Members hereto covenant and agree to execute such additional documents and to perform additional acts as are or may become necessary or convenient to carry out the purposes of this Agreement.

<u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Members, and no other Person is intended to be a beneficiary of this Agreement or shall have any rights hereunder.

Counsel to the Company. Counsel to the Company may also be counsel to the Manager. The Manager may execute on behalf of the Company and the Members any consent to the representation of the Company that counsel may request pursuant to the New York Rules of Professional Conduct or similar rules in any other jurisdiction ("Rules"). The Company has initially selected Bryan Cave LLP ("Company Counsel") as legal counsel to the Company. Each Member acknowledges that Company Counsel does not represent any Member in its capacity as a Member in the absence of a clear and explicit written agreement to such effect between the Member and Company Counsel (and then only to such extent as set forth in the such agreement), and that in the absence of any such agreement Company Counsel shall owe no duties directly to a Member. In the event any dispute or controversy arises between any Member and the Company, or between any Member or the Company, on the one hand, and the Manager or any Affiliate of the Manager that Company Counsel represents, on the other hand, then each Member agrees that Company Counsel may represent such Manager or the Company (and in the case where the dispute is between any Member, on the one hand, and both the Manager and the Company, on the other hand, Company Counsel may represent both the Company and the Manager) in any such dispute or controversy to the extent permitted by the Rules, and each Member hereby consents to such representation. Each Member further acknowledges that, whether or not Company Counsel has in the past represented or is currently representing such Member with respect to other matters, Company Counsel has not represented the interests of any Member in the preparation and negotiation of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 14.8 (Entire Agreement), this Section 14.12 shall be treated as a supplement to, and not a substitution or replacement for, any other waiver, consent or agreement provided to the Company Counsel by any Person.

[Signatures page follows.]

MANAGER:		
David Levy	 	
MEMBERS:		

All those Members who have executed a Subscription Agreement and Special Power of Attorney, originals of which are on file with the Company

BC Draft 7/3/2013

THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY REPRESENTED BY THIS LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT (AS MODIFIED, AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTED) AMONG THE MEMBERS AND MANAGER SIGNATORY HERETO, HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR QUALIFIED UNDER ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS IN RELIANCE UPON **EXEMPTIONS THEREFROM.** THESE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INTERESTS MAY NOT BE OFFERED, ASSIGNED, PLEDGED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF ABSENT AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND QUALIFICATION UNDER SUCH STATE SECURITIES **EXEMPTIONS FROM UNLESS SUCH** REGISTRATION OUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS ARE AVAILABLE. THE COMPANY HAS THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE ANY POTENTIAL TRANSFEROR OF A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INTEREST IN THE COMPANY TO DELIVER AN OPINION OF COUNSEL ACCEPTABLE TO THE COMPANY PRIOR TO ANY TRANSFER TO THE EFFECT THAT AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION IS TRANSFER. ADDITIONAL **AVAILABLE** FOR **SUCH SUBSTANTIAL** RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER OF THESE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INTERESTS ARE SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT.

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT

FOR

BEECHWOOD REINVESTMENT, LLC

Dated as of July ____, 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE I	DEFINITIONS	1
	I THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY	
2.1	Formation	
2.1	Name	
2.3	Term	
2.4	Registered Office and Agent; Principal Place of Business	
2.5	Purpose	
ARTICLE I	II CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS	7
3.1	Capital Contributions By Members	
3.2	Admission of Additional Members	
3.3	No Third Party Right to Enforce	
3.4	Return of Contributions	
ARTICLE I	V REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS	8
4.1	General Representations and Warranties	8
4.2	Conflict and Tax Representations	
4.3	Survival	
ARTICLE V	V COMPANY MANAGEMENT	9
5.1	Manager	9
5.2	Management Authority	9
5.3	Major Decisions	10
5.4	Duties	11
5.5	Payment of Expenses	11
5.6	Initial Manager as Member	11
5.7	Removal and Replacement	11
5.8	Resignation	11
5.9	Vacancies	
5.10	Reliance by Third Parties	
5.11	Other Business Opportunities; Affiliate Transactions; Conflicts	
5.12	Standard of Care; Indemnification	12
ARTICLE V	VI MEMBERS	15
6.1	No Control by the Members; Rights of the Members	15
6.2	Limited Liability	
6.3	Quorum and Voting	15
6.4	Action by Written Consent	15
6.5	Meetings	
6.6	No State-Law Partnership	16
6.7	Tax Matters	16

ARTICLE	E VII DISTRIBUTIONS TO THE MEMBERS	
7.1	Discretionary Distribution to Pay Tax	16
7.2	Ordinary Distributions	17
7.3	Liquidity Event and Liquidation Proceeds	17
7.4	1 1	
A DTICLE	E VIII ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES	18
8.1	In General	
8.2		
8.3		
ADTICLE		21
	E IX ALLOCATION OF TAXABLE INCOME AND TAX LOSSES	
9.1		
9.2		
9.3	6	
9.4	Allocation of Tax Credits	22
ARTICLE	E X ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING	22
10.	1 Books	22
10.	2 Capital Accounts	22
10.	3 Valuation of Securities and Other Assets Owned by the Company	22
10.4		
10	•	
10.	1	
10.		
ARTICLE	E XI TRANSFER OF MEMBER'S INTEREST	25
11.		
11.		
11.		
11.		
11.		
ADTICLE	EVILWIPHDDAWAL DICCOLUPION AND TEDMINATION	26
12.	E XII WITHDRAWAL, DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION 1 Withdrawal	
12. 12.		
1-1		
12.	1	
12.	4 Articles of Dissolution	28
ARTICLE	E XIII NOTICES	
13.		
13.	2 Computation of Time	28
ARTICLE	E XIV GENERAL PROVISIONS	29
14.		
14.		
14.	•	
	4 Power of Attorney	29

14.5	Confidentiality	30
	Applicable Law	
	Entire Agreement	
	Counterparts	
14.10	Additional Documents	31
14.11	No Third Party Beneficiaries	31
14.12	Counsel to the Company	31

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT FOR BEECHWOOD REINVESTMENT, LLC

This Limited Liability Company Agreement (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of July ____, 2013 (the "<u>Effective Date</u>"), for Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "<u>Company</u>"), is among the Manager and Members (as defined below) signatory hereto.

In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Members agree as follows:

Article I DEFINITIONS

In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the indicated meaning:

"<u>Accredited Investor</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term under Rule 501 of Regulation D, promulgated under the Securities Act.

" $\underline{\text{Act}}$ " means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, as amended from time to time.

"Adjusted Capital Account Deficit" means, with respect to any Member, a deficit balance in such Member's Capital Account as of the end of the fiscal year after giving effect to the following adjustments: (a) credit to such Capital Account the additions, if any, permitted by Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(c) (referring to obligations to restore a capital account deficit), 1.704-2(g)(1) (referring "partnership minimum gain") and 1.704-2(i)(5) (referring to "partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain"), and (b) debit to such Capital Account the items described in §§ 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5) and (6) of the Treasury Regulations. This definition of Adjusted Capital Account Deficit is intended to comply with the provisions of Treasury Regulation § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d).

"Adjusted Properties" is defined in Section 9.2.

"Affiliate" means with respect to a Person, (a) any other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person, (b) any spouse, ascendant or descendant of any such Person or any Person described in clause (a) of this definition, and (c) any trust, family partnership or other entity established primarily for the benefit of such Person or any Person described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition. As used in this definition, the word "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

"Agreement" is defined in the introductory paragraph.

"Available Cash" means Distributable Assets that are in the form of cash or cash equivalents.

"Business" is defined in Section 2.5.

"Business Day" means each day that is not a Saturday or Sunday when the New York Stock Exchange is open for business.

"Capital Account" is defined in Section 10.2(a).

"Capital Contribution" means for any Member at the particular time in question the aggregate of the dollar amounts of any cash, cash equivalents and Non-Cash Assets contributed by such Member to the capital of the Company.

"Carrying Value." The initial "Carrying Value" of property contributed to the Company, including Non-Cash Assets, by a Member means the value of such property at the time of contribution as determined by the Manager. The initial Carrying Value of any other property shall be the adjusted basis of such property for federal income tax purposes at the time it is acquired by the Company. The initial Carrying Value of a property shall be reduced (but not below zero) by all subsequent depreciation, cost recovery, depletion and amortization deductions with respect to such property as taken into account in determining Profit and Loss. The Carrying Value of any property shall be adjusted from time to time in accordance with Section 10.2(b) and Treasury Regulation $\S 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)$, and to reflect changes, additions or other adjustments to the Carrying Value for dispositions, acquisitions or improvements of Company properties, as deemed appropriate by the Manager.

"Certificate of Formation" is defined in Section 2.1.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. Any reference herein to a specific section or sections of the Code shall be deemed to include a reference to any corresponding provision of future Law.

"Company" is defined in the introductory paragraph.

"Company Counsel" is defined in Section 14.12.

"Company Expenses" means all expenses and costs incurred in conducting the Company's business, including, without limitation the following: (i) accounting, legal and other professional services; (ii) costs and expensed incurred in connection with the Company's investment in the Operating Company (including related due diligence expenses) and the monitoring, management, restructuring, sale or other disposition of such investment; (iii) costs of any litigation or investigation involving Company activities; (iv) costs of any litigation or investigation involving Company activities; (v) Organizational Expenses; and (vi) costs and expenses for terminating, dissolving and winding up the Company.

"Company Interest" means any Membership Interest, and any other rights in the Company, including, without limitation, any economic rights as an assignee, transferee or successor of any Member.

"Confidential Information" means information concerning the properties, operations, business, trade secrets, technical know-how and other non-public information and data of or relating to the Company and the Manager (including the contents of this Agreement and its Exhibits), its properties, any technical information with respect to any project of the Company.

"<u>Distributable Assets</u>" means, at a particular time, the cash, cash equivalents and Non-Cash Assets held by the Company [(including, without limitation, distributions received from the Operating Company)], less such cash reserves as the Manager reasonably determines are necessary to pay on a timely basis Company costs and expenses, including Company Expenses, taxes, and other obligations of the Company, taking into account the anticipated revenues of the Company.

"Effective Date" is defined in the introductory paragraph.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States in accordance with the hierarchy set forth in Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification.

"Indemnified Person" is defined in Section 5.12(b).

"Initial Closing" means the date on which the first Member is admitted to the Company which shall occur when the subscriptions for Membership Interests is at least \$[__,000,000].

"<u>Law</u>" or "<u>Laws</u>" means all applicable federal, state, tribal and local laws (statutory or common), rules, ordinances, regulations, grants, concessions, franchises, licenses, orders, directives, judgments, decrees, restrictions and other similar requirements, whether legislative, municipal, administrative or judicial in nature.

"<u>Lien</u>" means any mortgage, deed of trust, lien (statutory or otherwise), pledge, hypothecation, charge, deposit arrangement, preference, priority, security interest, option, right of first refusal or other transfer restriction or encumbrance of any kind (including preferential purchase rights, conditional sales agreements or other title retention agreements, and the filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code or comparable Law of any jurisdiction to evidence any of the foregoing).

"Major Decision" is defined in Section 5.3.

"Major Decision Threshold" means \$100,000.

"Manager" is defined in Section 5.1.

"Member" means, at the time of determination, a Person holding Company Interests, that is or should be designated as a Member of the Company and a Person admitted as a substituted Member pursuant to Section 11.3.

"<u>Membership Interest</u>" means, with respect to any Member, (a) that Member's status as a Member, (b) that Member's Capital Account and share of the Profits, Losses and other items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credits of, and the right to receive distributions (liquidating or

otherwise) from, the Company under the terms of this Agreement, (c) all other rights, benefits, and privileges enjoyed by, and obligations of, such Member (under the Act or this Agreement) in its capacity as a Member, including that Member's rights to vote, consent and approve those matters described in this Agreement, and (d) all obligations, duties and liabilities imposed on that Member under the Act or this Agreement in its capacity as a Member.

"Misconduct" means any of the following: (a) the conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere by any member of the Manager with respect to (i) a material violation of material federal or state securities Laws, (ii) a felony under any criminal statute, or (iii) a violation of any other criminal statute involving intentional fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement, or (b) the Manager has been determined by a court of first impression having competent jurisdiction to have knowingly and willfully breached its material obligations under this Agreement or, subject to Section 5.4, its fiduciary obligations to the Company, including for intentional fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence.

"Non-Cash Assets" means Securities and any other in-kind property held by the Company other than cash or cash-equivalents. The value of Non-Cash Assets shall be determined as of the date of the initial Capital Contributions of Non-Cash Assets by a Member and, thereafter, shall be revalued every 12 months in accordance with the procedures described in this Agreement. Non-Cash Assets shall not include any dividends or distributions made to a Member by the issuer of Securities and the Member shall be entitled to retain any dividends or distributions made to the Member by such issuer.

"Operating Company" means Beechwood Reinsurance LLC, a limited liability company formed under the laws of the Cayman Islands, British West Indies.

"<u>Organizational Expenses</u>" means the expenses incurred in the organization of the Company and the offering of the Membership Interests.

"<u>Percentage Interests</u>" means, with respect to each Member, the percentage of the outstanding Membership Interests held by such Member set forth opposite such Member's name on <u>Exhibit A</u>, as such Percentage Interest may be modified from time to time pursuant to this Agreement.

"<u>Person</u>" means a natural person, corporation, joint venture, partnership, limited liability partnership, limited partnership, limited liability limited partnership, limited liability company, trust, estate, business trust, association, governmental authority or any other entity.

"<u>Preferred Distribution</u>" means an amount, determined for each Member, equal to (i) eight percent (8%) of such Member's Capital Contributions that consist of cash and cash equivalents and (ii) five percent (5%) of such Member's Capital Contributions of Non-Cash Assets (based on the most recent valuation completed with respect to such Non-Cash Assets).

"Prime Rate" means a rate per annum equal to the *lesser of* (a) an annual rate of interest which equals the floating commercial loan rate as published in the <u>Wall Street Journal</u> from time to time as the "Prime Rate," adjusted in each case as of the banking day in which a change in the Prime Rate occurs, as reported in the <u>Wall Street Journal</u>; *provided, however*, that if such rate is no longer published in the <u>Wall Street Journal</u>, then it shall mean an annual rate of interest which

equals the floating commercial loan rate of Citibank N.A., or its successors and assigns, announced from time to time as its "base rate," adjusted in each case as of the banking day in which a change in the base rate occurs, and (b) the maximum rate permitted by applicable Law.

"Profit" or "Loss" means the income or loss of the Company as determined under the capital accounting rules of Treasury Regulation $\S 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)$ for purposes of adjusting the Capital Accounts of Members including, without limitation, the provisions of paragraphs 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g) and 1.704-1(b)(4) of those regulations relating to the computation of items of income, gain, deduction and loss.

"Regulatory Allocations" is defined in Section 8.2(h).

"<u>Relative</u>" means, in relation to a natural person, any spouse, brother, sister, aunt, uncle, ascendant or descendant of such natural person.

"Required Interest of Members" means Members holding, individually or in the aggregate, at least 66% of the Membership Interests.

"Rules" is defined in Section 14.12.

"Securities" or "Security" means (1) securities and other financial instruments and rights and options relating thereto of United States of America ("U.S.") and non-U.S. entities, now existing or hereinafter created, including without limitation equities, debt instruments, shares of stock funds, American Deposit Receipts, shares; (2) partnership, limited liability or similar beneficial interests in private entities, (3) private investments in public entities (PIPEs); (4) bonds, notes, bills, debt, debt instruments and debentures; (5) currencies; (6) interest rate, commodity, equity and other derivative products and instruments of any kind, including, without limitation (a) futures contracts (and options thereon), (b) swap contracts, options, and forward rate agreements, (c) spot and forward currency transactions and (d) agreements relating to or securing such transactions; (7) loans, accounts and notes receivable and payable held by trade or other creditors; (8) trade acceptances; (9) contract and other claims; (10) executory contracts; (11) participations; (12) mutual funds, exchange-traded funds and other stock funds; (13) money market funds; (14) obligations of the U.S. or any state thereof, foreign governments and instrumentalities of any of them; (15) commercial paper; (16) certificates of deposit; (17) banker's acceptances; (18) trust receipts; and (19) other obligations and instruments or evidences of indebtedness of whatever kind of nature; in each case, of any Person, corporation, government or other entity whatsoever, or such other instruments identified by the Manager.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time. Any reference herein to a specific section or sections of the Securities Act shall be deemed to include a reference to any corresponding provision of future Law.

"<u>Transfer</u>" or "<u>Transferred</u>" means, with respect to any asset, including a Membership Interest or any portion thereof, including any right to receive distributions from the Company or any other economic interest in the Company, a sale, pledge assignment, transfer, conveyance, gift, exchange or other disposition of such asset, whether such disposition be voluntary, involuntary or by merger, exchange, consolidation or other operation of Law, including the following: (a) in the case of an asset owned by a natural person, a transfer of such asset upon the

death of its owner, whether by will, intestate succession or otherwise, (b) in the case of an asset owned by a Person which is not a natural person, a distribution of such asset, including in connection with the dissolution, liquidation, winding up or termination of such Person (other than a liquidation under a deemed termination solely for tax purposes), and (c) a disposition in connection with, or in lieu of, a foreclosure of a Lien; *provided, however*, a Transfer shall not include the creation of a Lien.

"Treasury Regulations" means regulations issued by the Department of Treasury under the Code. Any reference herein to a specific section or sections of the Treasury Regulations shall be deemed to include a reference to any corresponding provision of future regulations under the Code.

"<u>Unpaid Preferred Distribution</u>" means an amount, determined for each Member, equal to the Member's Preferred Distribution reduced by the aggregate amount distributed to the Member pursuant to Sections 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3 through the date of determination.

Article II THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

Formation. The Company was formed pursuant to the Certificate of Formation, filed by the Manager with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on July _____, 2013 (as amended, modified and supplemented, the "Certificate of Formation"). The Manager shall execute such further documents (including amendments to the Certificate of Formation) and take such further action as shall be appropriate or necessary to comply with the requirements of Law for the formation, qualification or operation of a limited liability company in all other states and counties where the Company may conduct its business. To the fullest extent permitted by the Act, this Agreement shall control as to any conflict between this Agreement and the Act or as to any matter provided for in this Agreement that is also provided for in the Act.

<u>Name</u>. The name of the Company shall be Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC, unless otherwise determined by the Manager.

<u>**Term**</u>. The Company shall have perpetual existence; *provided*, that the Company shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of an event set forth in Section 12.2.

Registered Office and Agent; Principal Place of Business. The location of the registered office of the Company and the Company's registered agent shall be at such address as set forth in the Certificate of Formation, unless otherwise determined by the Manager. The location of the principal place of business of the Company shall be at such location as the Manager may from time to time select.

<u>Purpose</u>. The business of the Company shall be to (a) invest in the Operating Company, and engage in any and all activities related or incidental thereto (including incurring debt to finance such activities), and (b) do all things necessary or appropriate in connection with the foregoing (collectively, the "<u>Business</u>"). The Business may be conducted directly by the Company or indirectly through another corporation, limited liability company, partnership (general or limited), joint venture or other entity or arrangement.

Article III CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Capital Contributions By Members.

- (a) The Members shall make Capital Contributions of cash in U.S. Dollars, cash equivalents and Non-Cash Assets to the Company, payable by wire transfer. The initial Capital Contribution amounts, including the value of any Non-Cash Assets, of each Member shall be set forth in the books and records of the Company.
- (b) Subject to applicable securities laws, each Member shall have the first right to purchase such Member's pro rata share (based on such Member's Percentage Interests) of any new Membership Interests to be issued by the Company. If any Member does not purchase its full pro rata share, then any remaining Members shall have the right to purchase the remaining share pro rata. Each Member shall have 20 days from the date of receiving a notice from the Manager of such proposed sale to agree to purchase its pro rata share of the new Membership Interests for the price and upon the terms and conditions specified in the notice by giving written notice to the Company and stating therein the amount of Membership Interests to be purchased.
- (c) The Manager shall not be authorized to call (and the Members shall not be obligated to make) any additional Capital Contributions following the Members' initial Capital Contributions except for Capital Contributions that Members may elect to make as provided in Section 3.1(c).
- (d) Except as specifically provided under this Agreement, no Member shall have any obligation to contribute capital to the Company, including without limitation with respect to any deficit Capital Account balance.

3.2 Admission of Additional Members.

- (a) Subject to Article XII and Section 3.2(b) below, no additional Person may be admitted as a Member to the Company (i) without the prior written consent of the Manager and (ii) without executing and delivering to the Company and the Manager the documents described in Section 11.3(a).
- (b) For the period commencing on the date of the Initial Closing and ending on the first to occur of (i) the Company's receipt of total Capital Contributions equal to \$100,000,000 (or such greater amount as the Manager shall accept in its discretion); or (ii) 90th day thereafter, the Manager may admit persons as additional Members (or allow existing Members to increase their Capital Contributions) without the consent of any of the existing Members. Following the admission of any such subsequently admitted Members pursuant to this Section 3.2(b), such Members shall be deemed for all purposes of this Agreement except for voting rights and other matters, expressly set forth herein, which shall not commence until such Member's admission in accordance with this Agreement to have been an initial Member, admitted as of the date of this Agreement (unless expressly provided to the contrary herein). Upon the admission of any additional Members to the Company (or increase in the Capital

Contributions of a Member) pursuant to this Section 3.2(b), the assets of the Company shall not be revalued except in the discretion of the Manager.

<u>No Third Party Right to Enforce</u>. No Person other than a Member shall have the right to enforce any obligation of a Member to contribute capital hereunder and specifically no lender or other third party shall have any such rights.

Return of Contributions. No Member shall be entitled to the return of any part of its Capital Contributions or to be paid interest in respect of either its Capital Account or its Capital Contributions. No unrepaid Capital Contribution shall constitute a liability of the Company, the Manager or any Member. A Member is not required to contribute or to lend cash or property to the Company to enable the Company to return any Member's Capital Contributions. The provisions of this Section 3.4 shall not limit a Member's rights under Article XII.

Article IV REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

<u>General Representations and Warranties</u>. Each Member represents and warrants to the Manager, the other Members and the Company as follows:

- (a) If it is an entity, it is the type of legal entity specified in its Subscription Documents, duly organized and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and is qualified to do business and is in good standing in those jurisdictions where necessary to carry out the purposes of this Agreement;
- (b) If it is an entity, the execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement and all transactions contemplated herein are within its entity powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary entity actions;
- (c) This Agreement constitutes its valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium and similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity; and
- (d) The execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement will not conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of (i) any applicable Law, (ii) if it is an entity, its governing documents, or (iii) any agreement or arrangement to which it or any of its Affiliates is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its Affiliates or any of its or their assets.

<u>Conflict and Tax Representations</u>. Each Member represents and warrants to the Manager, the other Members and the Company as follows:

(a) Such Member has been advised that (i) a conflict of interest exists among the Members' individual interests, (ii) this Agreement has tax consequences and (iii) it should seek independent counsel in connection with the execution of this Agreement;

- (b) Such Member has had the opportunity to seek independent counsel, including independent tax advice, prior to the execution of this Agreement, and such Member is not relying to any extent on any representation of any kind to it regarding tax consequences of this Agreement; and
- (c) This Agreement and the language used in this Agreement are the product of all parties' efforts and each party hereby irrevocably waives the benefit of any rule of contract construction which disfavors the drafter of an agreement.

<u>Survival</u>. The representations and warranties set forth in this Article IV shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and any documents of Transfer provided under this Agreement.

Article V COMPANY MANAGEMENT

<u>Manager</u>. The Company shall be managed by one manager (the "<u>Manager</u>"). The initial Manager shall be David Levy. The Manager shall have the power and authority to conduct the business of the Company and is hereby expressly authorized on behalf of the Company to make all decisions with respect to the Company's business and to take all actions necessary to carry out such decisions, except as such discretion, powers and rights are expressly limited or denied in this Agreement.

Management Authority. The Manager shall have full, exclusive and complete discretion in the management and control of the business and affairs of the Company and shall have, in addition to those powers and rights expressly granted in this Agreement, all the powers and rights of a Manager of a limited liability company organized under the Act, except as such discretion, powers and rights are expressly limited or denied in this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and except as provided in Section 5.3, in connection with managing and controlling the business and affairs of the Company, the Manager shall have the sole authority and absolute discretion, on behalf of the Company and without limitation:

- (a) To originate and structure the investment of Company assets in the Operating Company;
- (b) To monitor and evaluate the Company's investment in the Operating Company and provide ongoing management and operations support services to the Operating Company;
- (c) To exercise the voting rights under any and all Securities of the Operating Company owned by the Company;
- (d) To arrange for the sale, pledge, or other Transfer of all or any part of the Securities of the Operating Company held by the Company (including determining the timing and manner of such sale), or the approval by the Company of any merger or consolidation of the Operating Company or the sale of all or substantially all of the Operating Company's assets on such terms and at such times as it shall determine to be in the best interests of the Company and its Members;

- (e) To cause the Company to borrow money from Members or to guarantee loans or other extensions of credit (i) to support an obligation made to the Operating Company, or (ii) to provide bridge financing to the Operating Company;
- (f) To admit additional Members or to issue additional equity interests (or rights to acquire equity interests) in the Company to existing Members, to additional Members or to other persons or entities, but only to the extent consistent with Section 3.2 and Article XI;
- (g) To hire, employ, retain or otherwise secure attorneys, accountants, consultants and other independent contractors or other personnel necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of the Company upon such terms as the Manager may determine;
- (h) To sue and be sued, and complain and defend, in the name of and on behalf of the Company, and to settle, adjust, submit to arbitration and compromise all actions, suits, accounts, reckonings, claims and demands whatsoever now or hereafter pending between the Company and any other party (other than a Member);
 - (i) To pay all Company Expenses;
- (j) To make or revoke such elections as it deems appropriate under the tax Laws of the United States, the several states and other relevant jurisdictions as to the treatment of items of Company income, expenses, gain, loss, deduction and credit, including without limitation to make or revoke the election referred to in Section 754 of the Code; and
- (k) Subject to the provisions of Section 5.3, to take all other actions, to enter into all other agreements and transactions with any other parties and to execute all other documents and instruments of any kind, which the Manager may deem necessary or appropriate in carrying out the purposes of the Company.
- 5.3 <u>Major Decisions</u>. No Manager, Member, officer, employee, agent or representative of the Company shall have any authority to bind or take any action on behalf of the Company with respect to any Major Decision unless such Major Decision has been approved by a Required Interest of Members. Each of the following matters shall constitute a "<u>Major Decision</u>":(a) any merger, reorganization, consolidation, dissolution or similar restructuring of the Company;
- (b) the sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of assets of the Company other than the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of business;
- (c) entering into a new line of business or expanding the current Business of the Company outside the scope of the Business of the Company as conducted in the ordinary course consistent with past practice;
 - (d) any amendment to this Agreement;
 - (e) the dissolution of the Company pursuant to Section 12.2(a);

- (f) the providing of any guaranty (or other obligations that, in economic effect, are substantially equivalent to a guaranty) of any amount owed by or any obligation of any person;
- (g) the settlement of any claim against the Company for a settlement in excess of the Major Decision Threshold;
- (h) the incurrence of any indebtedness or the creation of any Lien on any property or assets of the Company in excess of the Major Decision Threshold;
 - (i) the redemption of any outstanding Membership Interests;
- (j) any transaction or other undertaking between the Company, a Member or an Affiliate of any of them pursuant to Section 5.11; and
- (k) making any other decision or taking any action with respect to the Company that specifically requires the approval of all of the Members pursuant to this Agreement.

<u>Duties</u>. The Manager and each officer of the Company shall carry out his duties in good faith. The Manager shall devote such time to the business and affairs of the Company as he may determine, in his reasonable discretion, is necessary for the efficient carrying on of the Company's business. The Manager's and officers' duties and liabilities are restricted by the provisions of this Agreement to the extent that any such provisions restrict the duties and liabilities of the Manager and officers otherwise existing at law or in equity.

<u>Payment of Expenses</u>. The Company shall pay (or reimburse the Manager for) all Company Expenses (including Company Expenses incurred directly by the Manager and any others acting for or on behalf of the Company).

<u>Initial Manager as Member</u>. The Manager, in addition to his rights and obligations as the Manager, may invest in the Company as a Member or acquire Membership Interests previously purchased by other Members and, in that event, shall acquire and hold the same rights and obligations as such other Members with respect to those Membership Interests. The Manager does not need to be a Member.

Removal and Replacement. In the case of the occurrence of Misconduct with respect to the Manager, a Required Interest of Members may elect to remove the Manager and elect a successor Manager (excluding for this purpose a removed Manager if he is also a Member), subject to such successor Manager's compliance with Section Article XI effective upon such removal by providing not less than 60 days' prior written notice to the Manager.

5.8 **Resignation**. The Manager may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Members. Unless otherwise specified in the notice, the resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by the Members, and the acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it **Vacancies**

. In the case of the death of a Manager, the Members agree to designate and elect one of the
following persons as the successor Manager, subject to such successor Manager's compliance
with Section Article XI effective upon such removal by providing not less than 60 days' prior
written notice to the Manager: []. If a Person that is both a Manager and a
Member is removed or resigns as a Manager, such Person shall continue to be a Member in the
Company notwithstanding such Person's removal as the Manager.

Reliance by Third Parties. No third party dealing with the Company shall be required to ascertain whether the Manager or any Company officer is acting in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. All third parties may rely on a document executed by a majority of the Manager or by any Company officer as binding on the Company. The foregoing provisions shall not apply to third parties who are Affiliates or family members of any such Person executing any such document. If the Manager or any officer acts without authority, it shall be liable to the Members for any damages arising out of its unauthorized actions.

Other Business Opportunities; Affiliate Transactions; Conflicts.

- (a) Each Member acknowledges that the Manager, the other Members and their respective Affiliates are or may be active in other business activities and shall, subject to the restrictions under Section 5.3, be free to independently engage, invest or participate for their own account in, and receive the full benefits from, any business or activity, without consulting with the Company or the Members and without offering any right to participate therein to the Company or any other Member.
- (b) The Manager and its affiliates shall offer to the Company the first right to participate in investments in the Operating Company that are made available to the Company.
- (c) Except as set forth in clause (b) above, no Member shall be required to make any investment opportunity available to the Company.
- (d) The Manager may, on behalf of the Company, enter into contracts, agreements, undertakings and transactions with Members, or with Persons, firms or corporations having business, financial or other relationships with Members, provided that such transactions with such Persons and entities are on terms no less favorable to the Company than are generally available to unrelated third parties in comparable transactions.
- (e) The Manager and Members, and their respective Affiliates, shall be entitled to earn and retain any fees, salaries, commissions and options customarily paid or granted to directors, employees or independent contractors of the Operating Company.

Standard of Care; Indemnification.

(a) It is understood that the business of the Company involves a high degree of investment and other risk. The Manager and any Company officer shall not have any liability to the Company or any Member for errors in judgment or for acts or omissions made in good faith and reasonably believed to be in the best interest of the Company, except in the case of a Manager, by reason of its intentional fraud, willful misfeasance or gross negligence; provided, however, that the Manager must repay to the Company any amounts paid to them in excess of

those to which it is entitled under the terms of this Agreement. The Manager shall not be liable to the Company or any Member for any tax, or penalty or interest related thereto, imposed upon the Company or any Member so long as the Manager has acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be consistent with this Agreement and in the best interest of the Company.

- To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Manager, Company officers (b) and the respective agents, officers, directors, employees and Affiliates of any of the foregoing to the extent applicable (the "Indemnified Persons" or an "Indemnified Person") shall, in accordance with this Section 5.12, be indemnified and held harmless by the Company from and against (i) all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, expenses, and other amounts arising from any claims (including reasonable legal expenses), demands, actions, suits or proceedings (civil, criminal, administrative or investigative), in which they may be involved, as a party or otherwise, by reason of their management of the affairs of the Company, or rendering of advice or consultation with respect thereto, or which relate to the Company, its properties, business or affairs including acting as a director of the Operating Company (but only after first exhausting the indemnification provided to such Indemnified Person by the Operating Company and then only to the extent that full indemnification is not provided by the Operating Company, and in such event the Company shall be subrogated to the right of indemnity from the Operating Company), whether or not they continue to be such at the time any such liability or expense is paid or incurred if such Indemnified Person acted in good faith and in a manner such Indemnified Person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company, and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct of such Indemnified Person was unlawful; and (ii) any threatened, pending, or completed action by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such Indemnified Person is or was an agent of the Company, against expenses actually or reasonably incurred by such Indemnified Person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action, if such Indemnified Person acted in good faith and in a manner such Indemnified Person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company except that indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such Indemnified Person shall have been adjudged to be liable for misconduct in the performance of the Indemnified Person's duty to the Company only to the extent that the court in which such action or suit was brought, or another court of appropriate jurisdiction, determines upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability, but in view of all circumstances of the case, such Indemnified Person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which such court shall deem proper.
- (c) No Indemnified Person shall be entitled to indemnification hereunder for any conduct arising from the intentional fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person.
- (d) Expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by an Indemnified Person in a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding shall be paid by the Company (or, following dissolution of the Company, the Members) in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding, in each case within 30 days after bills or invoices for such expenses are submitted to the Company by the Indemnified Person; provided that such expenses will not be so advanced in connection with an action, suit or proceeding brought against the Indemnified Persons by a

Required Interest of Members; and provided further that the Indemnified Person to be advanced such expenses shall agree in writing that, if it is later determined that such Indemnified Person was not entitled to indemnification with respect to such action, suit or proceeding by reason of Section 5.12(c), then such Indemnified Person shall reimburse the Company (or, following dissolution of the Company, the Members) for such advances within ten (10) Business Days following the final disposition of the action, suit or proceeding with respect to which such advance is being requested, with interest at the Prime Rate, determined as of the date of such advance. Expenses incurred by an Indemnified Person in any such action, suit or proceeding shall be presumed reasonable unless and until such presumption is rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.

- (e) The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the Indemnified Person did not act in good faith and in a manner which the Indemnified Person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company or that the Indemnified Person had reasonable cause to believe that the Indemnified Person's conduct was unlawful.
- (f) The indemnification provided by this Section 5.12 shall not be deemed to be exclusive of any other rights to which the Indemnified Person may be entitled under any agreement, or as a matter of law, or otherwise, both as to action in an Indemnified Person's official capacity and to action in another capacity, and shall continue as to an Indemnified Person who has ceased to have an official capacity for acts or omissions during such official capacity or otherwise when acting at the request of the Manager and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors and administrators of such Indemnified Persons.
- (g) To the extent that the Indemnified Person has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceedings referred to herein, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, the Indemnified Person shall be indemnified by the Company against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the Indemnified Person in connection therewith and not already advanced to the Indemnified Person pursuant to Section 5.12.
- (h) The Manager shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of the Manager and the Indemnified Persons at the expense of the Company, against any liability asserted against or incurred by them in any such capacity or arising out of the Manager's status as such, whether or not the Company would have the power to indemnify the Indemnified Persons against such liability under the provisions of this Agreement.
- (i) The Manager may rely upon and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, bond, debenture, or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.
- (j) The Manager may consult with counsel, accountants and other experts reasonably selected by it, and any opinion of an independent counsel, accountant or expert retained and supervised by the Manager with reasonable care, shall be full and complete

protection in respect of any action taken or suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with such opinion.

(k) No Indemnified Person may satisfy any right of indemnity or reimbursement granted in this Section 5.12 or to which it may be otherwise entitled except out of the assets of the Company, and no Member shall be personally liable with respect to any such claim for indemnity or reimbursement.

Article VI **MEMBERS**

No Control by the Members; Rights of the Members. Except as is specifically permitted by this Agreement and as is specifically required by the Act, the Members, in such capacity, shall not take part in the control or management of the affairs of the Company, and a Member, in such capacity, shall not have any authority to act for or on behalf of the Company.

<u>Limited Liability</u>. The liability of each Member shall be limited as provided by the Act. No Member other than the Manager shall take part in the control, management, direction or operation of the affairs of the Company, unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, or specifically required under the Act, or shall have any power to bind the Company in their capacity as Members.

Quorum and Voting. Except as otherwise stated below, a Required Interest of Members, represented in person or by proxy, shall be necessary to constitute a quorum at meetings of the Members. One or more Members may participate in a meeting of the Members by means of conference telephone or similar communication equipment by which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time, and such participation shall constitute presence in person at the meeting. If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a Required Interest of Members for matters put to a vote of the Members, in each case present at the meeting or represented by proxy shall be the act of the Members unless a greater number is required by the Act or this Agreement. In the absence of a quorum, those present may adjourn the meeting for any period, but in no event shall such period exceed 60 days.

Action by Written Consent. Any vote or other action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of Members may be taken without a meeting if the action is evidenced by a written consent describing the action taken signed by a Required Interest of Members unless this Agreement requires the approval of a greater number for such action to be taken, in which case such written consent must be signed by the requisite number required to approve such action. Action taken under this Section 6.4 shall be effective when the required number of Members whose consent is required for such action have signed the consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. Any Member that did not execute any such consent shall be provided with reasonably prompt written notice of any such action so taken; provided, that the failure to provide such notice shall not invalidate such action.

Meetings.

(a) Meetings of the Members for any purpose or purposes may be called only by the Manager. The Manager may designate the place for any meeting.

- (b) Written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting, and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered pursuant to Section 13.1, by or at the direction of the Manager, to each Member of record entitled to vote at such Meeting. Meetings of the Members may be called upon not less than 5 calendar days' written notice.
- (c) At all meetings of Members, a Member may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by the Member or by his duly authorized attorney-in-fact. Such proxy shall be filed with the Manager before or at the time of the meeting. No proxy shall be valid after 11 months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy.
- (d) At each meeting of the Members, the Members may, but shall not be required to, elect a chairman for that particular meeting by the vote of a Required Interest of Members represented at the meeting. The chairman shall preside over and conduct the meeting and shall appoint someone in attendance to make accurate minutes of the meeting. Following each meeting, the minutes of the meeting shall be sent to each Member.
- (e) No Member shall be entitled to compensation for attendance at Member meetings or for time spent in its or his capacity as a Member.

No State-Law Partnership. The Members intend that the Company not be a partnership (including a limited partnership) or joint venture, and that no Member or Manager be a partner or joint venturer of any other Member or Manager, for any purposes other than federal and state tax purposes, and this Agreement may not be construed to suggest otherwise. Except as otherwise required by the Act or other applicable Law, and expressly this Agreement, no Member shall have any fiduciary duty to any other Member.

Tax Matters.

- (a) David Levy is hereby designated as the initial "tax matters partner" as such term is defined in section 6231(a)(7) of the Code. The appointment of any successor tax matters partner shall be approved by the Members. Subject to the provisions hereof, the tax matters partner is authorized and required to represent the Company in connection with all examinations of the Company's affairs by tax authorities, including resulting administrative and judicial proceedings, and to expend Company funds for professional services and costs associated therewith. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the tax matters partner shall promptly notify all Members of the commencement of any audit, investigation or other proceeding concerning the tax treatment of Company tax items and shall keep all Members adequately informed of such proceedings.
- (b) The tax matters partner and the Manager shall make or cause to be made all available elections as required by the Code and the Treasury Regulations to cause the Company to be classified as a partnership for federal income tax purposes.

Article VII DISTRIBUTIONS TO THE MEMBERS

<u>Discretionary Distribution to Pay Tax</u>. On or before the date upon which the Members are required to make each payment of their federal estimated income taxes, prior to

making any distributions under Section 7.2, the Company may in the sole discretion of the Manager (but shall not be required to) make distributions out of Available Cash to each Member for purposes of covering the amount of such estimated income taxes. The amount of any distributions to a Member pursuant to this Section 7.1 shall be treated as an advance against and shall be applied to reduce distributions that such Member would otherwise be entitled to receive under this Agreement.

Ordinary Distributions. Distributable Assets will be distributed as follows:

- (a) First, one hundred percent (100%) to the Members (and among them in proportion to their relative Unpaid Preferred Distribution amounts) until such time as the Unpaid Preferred Distribution of each Member is reduced to zero; and
- (b) Second, one hundred percent (100%) to the Members (and among them in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests).
- 7.3 <u>Liquidity Event and Liquidation Proceeds</u>. Subject to Section 12.3, and except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, Distributable Assets with respect to distributions the Company receives upon the sale, merger or other acquisition of the Operating Company (or the Company's interests therein), together with any other Company assets available for distribution in connection with the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or on the liquidation of the Company, will be distributed as follows:
- (a) First, one hundred percent (100%) to the Members (and among them in proportion to their relative Unpaid Preferred Distribution amounts) until such time as the Unpaid Preferred Distribution of each Member is reduced to zero; and
- (b) Second, one hundred percent (100%) to the Members (and among them in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests).

Distributions in Kind and of Non-Cash Assets. During the existence of the Company, no Member shall be entitled to receive as distributions from the Company any Company asset other than cash except as otherwise set forth herein with respect to Non-Cash Assets. If the Manager distributes a Non-Cash Asset, then the Manager shall distribute such Non-Cash Asset directly to the Member who contributed such Non-Cash Asset to the Company and such Non-Cash Asset shall not be distributed to other Members. The Manager may, in its sole discretion, distribute Distributable Assets in kind in the priority set forth in Section 7.2; provided that for purposes of this Section 7.4, a distribution of a Distributable Asset, including an undivided interest in a Distributable Asset, to a Member shall be treated as if the asset had been sold for its fair value, any gain or loss (determined with respect to its Carrying Value) had been allocated pursuant to the applicable provisions of Article VIII, and an amount equal to the fair market value of such asset or undivided interest had been distributed under the applicable provisions of this Article VII. Each class of Securities that is distributed shall be distributed to the Members in proportion to the relative amounts the Members are entitled to receive with respect to the distribution being made, except to the extent that a disproportionate distribution of Securities is necessary in order to avoid distributing fractional shares. For purposes of the

preceding sentence, each lot of stock or other Securities having a separately identifiable tax basis or holding period will be treated as a separate class of Securities. In-kind distributions of assets in connection with the dissolution and winding-up of the Company shall be governed by Article XII.

Article VIII ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES

In General.

- (a) This Article provides for the allocation among the Members of Profit and Loss for purposes of crediting and debiting the Capital Accounts of the Members. Article IX provides for the allocation among the Members of taxable income and tax losses.
- (b) Subject to Section 8.1(c), and except as provided in Sections 8.2 and 8.3, all Profits and Losses shall be allocated among the Members as follows:
- (i) Profits. Except as provided in Section 8.1(b)(iii), Profits shall be allocated:
- (A) First, to the extent any Member has a deficit Capital Account balance, to such Members in proportion to such deficit balances until the deficit Capital Account balance of each member has been eliminated; and
- (B) Thereafter, to the Members (and among them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests).
- (ii) <u>Losses</u>. Except as provided in Section 8.1(b)(iii), Losses shall be allocated:
- (A) First, to the Members, and proportionately among them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests, until the Capital Account balance of each Member equals zero; and
- $(B) \qquad \text{Thereafter, to the Members (and among them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests)}.$
- (iii) <u>Sale or Liquidation</u>. Upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company (including, without limitation, on the sale, merger or other acquisition of the Operating Company or the Company's interests therein) or the liquidation of the Company, Profits and Losses (or, as necessary, individual items of Profit and Loss) shall be allocated as follows:
- (A) First, to the extent any Member has a deficit Capital Account balance, Profits shall be allocated to such Members, (and among them in proportion to the relative amounts of such deficit Capital Account balances) until the deficit Capital Account balance of each Member has been eliminated;

- (B) Second, to the Members (and among them in proportion to the relative aggregate amounts allocable to them under this Section 8.1(b)(iii)(B)) to the extent necessary to cause each Member's Capital Account balance to equal such Member's Unpaid Preferred Distribution:
- (C) Thereafter, to the Members (and among them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests).
- (iv) <u>Interpretation</u>. For the avoidance of doubt, upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or the liquidation of the Company, the allocations in Section 8.1(b)(iii) are intended to cause the Capital Account balance of each Member, after giving effect to such allocations, to equal the amount distributable to the Member at that time under Section 7.2, and shall be applied in accordance with that intent.
- (c) Allocations under Section 8.1(b) shall be made after making and adjusting the Members' Capital Accounts for all distributions made under Article VII through the date with respect to which the allocations are being made.

Regulatory Allocations and Other Allocation Rules. Notwithstanding Sections 8.1 and 8.3:

- (a) Loss Limitation. The Losses allocated pursuant to Section 8.1 shall not exceed the maximum amount of Losses that can be so allocated without causing such Member to have an Adjusted Capital Account Deficit at the end of any fiscal year. In the event some but not all of the Members would have Adjusted Capital Account Deficits as a consequence of an allocation of Losses pursuant to Section 8.1, the limitation set forth in this Section 8.2(a) shall be applied on a Member by Member basis so as to allocate the maximum permissible Losses to each Member under Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) of the Treasury Regulations. All Losses in excess of the limitations set forth in this Section 8.2(a) shall be allocated to the Members in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests. This Section 8.2(a) shall be interpreted consistently with the loss limitation provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d).
- (b) <u>Minimum Gain Chargeback</u>. Except as otherwise provided in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(f), if there is a net decrease in partnership minimum gain (as defined in Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(b)(2) and 1.704-2(d)(1)) during any fiscal year, each Member shall be specially allocated items of Company income and gain for such fiscal year (and, if necessary, subsequent fiscal years) in an amount and in the manner required by Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(f) and 1.704-2(j)(2). This Section 8.2(b) shall be interpreted consistently with the "minimum gain" provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2 related to nonrecourse liabilities (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(3)).
- (c) <u>Member Minimum Gain Chargeback</u>. Except as otherwise provided in Treasury Regulation § 1.704-2(i)(4), if there is a net decrease in partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain (as defined in Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(i)(2) and 1.704-2(i)(3)) attributable to partner nonrecourse debt (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4)) during any fiscal year, each Member who has a share of the partner nonrecourse debt minimum

gain attributable to such Member's partner nonrecourse debt, determined in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(5), shall be specially allocated items of Company income and gain for such fiscal year (and, if necessary, subsequent fiscal years) in an amount and in the manner required by Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(i)(4) and 1.704-2(j)(2). This Section 8.2(c) shall be interpreted consistently with the "minimum gain" provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2 related to partner nonrecourse liabilities (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4)).

- (d) Qualified Income Offset. In the event any Member unexpectedly receives any adjustments, allocations, or distributions described in Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(5) or 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6), items of Company income and gain shall be specially allocated to such Member in an amount and manner sufficient to eliminate, to the extent required by the Treasury Regulations, the Adjusted Capital Account Deficit, if any, of such Member as quickly as possible. This Section 8.2(d) shall be interpreted consistently with the "qualified income offset" provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d).
- (e) Nonrecourse Deductions. Any non-recourse deduction (as defined in Treasury Regulations $\S 1.704-2(b)(1)$) for any fiscal year shall be allocated to the Members in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests.
- (f) <u>Member Nonrecourse Deductions</u>. Any partner nonrecourse deductions (as defined in Treasury Regulations §§ 1.704-2(i)(1) and 1.704-2(i)(2)) for any fiscal year shall be specially allocated to the Member who bears the economic risk of loss with respect to the partner nonrecourse debt (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4)) to which such Member nonrecourse deductions are attributable in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(1).
- (g) Section 754 Adjustments. To the extent an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any Company asset is required pursuant to Code Section 732(d), Code Section 734(b) or Code Section 743(b), the Capital Accounts of the Members shall be adjusted pursuant to Treasury Regulations $\S 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)$.
- (h) <u>Curative Allocations</u>. The allocations under Sections 8.2(a) through 8.2(f) (the "<u>Regulatory Allocations</u>") are intended to comply with certain requirements of the Treasury Regulations. It is the intent of the Members that, to the extent possible, all Regulatory Allocations shall be offset either with other Regulatory Allocations or with special allocations of other items of Company income, gain, loss or deduction pursuant to this Article VIII. Therefore, notwithstanding any other provision this Article VIII (other than the Regulatory Allocations), the Company shall make such offsetting special allocations of Company income, gain, loss or deduction in whatever manner it determines appropriate so that, after such offsetting allocations are made, each Member's Capital Account balance is, to the extent possible, equal to the Capital Account balance such Member would have had if the Regulatory Allocations were not part of this Agreement and all Company items were allocated pursuant to Section 8.1. In exercising its discretion under this Section 8.2(a) through 8.2(f) that are likely to offset other Regulatory Allocations previously made.

Other Allocation Rules.

- (a) Profits, Losses, and any other items allocable to any period shall be determined on a daily, monthly, or other basis, as determined by the Manager using any permissible method under Code Section 706 and the Regulations thereunder.
- (b) Solely for purposes of determining a Member's proportionate share of the "excess nonrecourse liabilities" of the Company within the meaning of Treasury Regulations § 1.752 3(a)(3), the Members' interests in Profits shall be their respective Percentage Interests.
- (c) To the extent permitted by Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(h)(3), the Company shall treat distributions of Available Cash as having been made from the proceeds of a nonrecourse liability (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(3)) or a partner nonrecourse debt (as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4)) only to the extent that such distributions would not cause or increase an Adjusted Capital Account Deficit for any Member.

Article IX ALLOCATION OF TAXABLE INCOME AND TAX LOSSES

Allocation of Taxable Income and Tax Losses. Except as provided in Sections 9.2 and 9.3, each item of income, gain, loss and deduction of the Company for federal income tax purposes shall be allocated among the Members in the same manner as such item is allocated for book purposes under Article VIII.

Allocation of Section 704(c) Items. The Members recognize that with respect to property contributed to the Company by a Member and with respect to property revalued in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f) (referred to as "Adjusted Properties"), there will be a difference between the agreed values or Carrying Values, as the case may be, of such property at the time of contribution or revaluation, as the case may be, and the adjusted tax basis of such property at that time. All items of tax depreciation, cost recovery, depletion, amortization and gain or loss with respect to such contributed properties and Adjusted Properties shall be allocated among the Members to take into account the book-tax disparities with respect to such properties in accordance with the provisions of Sections 704(b) and 704(c) of the Code and Treasury Regulations § 1.704-3(b)(1). Any gain or loss attributable to a contributed property or an Adjusted Property (exclusive of gain or loss allocated to eliminate such book-tax disparities under the immediately preceding sentence) shall be allocated in the same manner as such gain or loss would be allocated for book purposes under Article VIII.

<u>Integration with Section 754 Election</u>. All items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credits recognized by the Company for federal income tax purposes and allocated to the Members in accordance with the provisions hereof and all basis allocations to the Members shall be determined without regard to any election under Section 754 of the Code that may be made by the Company; *provided, however*, such allocations, once made, shall be adjusted as necessary or appropriate to take into account the adjustments permitted by Sections 734 and 743 of the Code.

Allocation of Tax Credits

. The tax credits, if any, with respect to the Company's property or operations shall be allocated among the Members in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(4)(ii).

Article X ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Books. The Manager shall cause the Company to maintain complete and accurate books of account of the Company's affairs at the principal office of the Company. The Company's books shall be kept in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, and on an accrual basis method of accounting. Subject to the requirements of applicable Law, the fiscal year of the Company shall end on December 31 of each year.

Capital Accounts.

- (a) The Manager shall cause the Company to maintain a separate capital account for each Member and such other Member accounts as may be necessary or desirable to comply with the requirements of applicable Law ("Capital Accounts"). Each Member's Capital Account shall be maintained in accordance with the provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv). With respect to the Manager, to the extent such Member holds Membership Interests in its capacity as a Member, the Manager shall maintain a Capital Account with respect to the Manager's Membership Interest(s) separate from the Capital Account attributable to the Membership Interests of the Manager in that capacity;
- (b) Consistent with and as permitted in the provisions of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f), the Capital Accounts of all Members and the Carrying Values of all Company properties may (as determined by the Manager) be adjusted upwards or downwards to reflect any unrealized gain or unrealized loss with respect to such Company property (as if such unrealized gain or unrealized loss had been recognized upon an actual sale of such property for the amount of its fair market value immediately prior to the event giving rise to revaluation under this Section 10.2(b), and had been allocated among the Members pursuant to Article VIII). In determining such unrealized gain or unrealized loss, the fair market value of Company properties as of the date of determination shall be determined by the Manager.
- (c) A transferee of a Company Interest shall succeed to the Capital Account attributable to the Company Interest Transferred, except that if the Transfer causes a termination of the Company under Section 708(b)(1)(B) of the Code, Treasury Regulations § 1.708-1(b) shall apply.

Valuation of Securities and Other Assets Owned by the Company.

- (a) Subject to the specific standards set forth below, the valuation of Securities and other assets and liabilities under this Agreement shall be at fair market value, as determined by the Manager in its discretion. In determining the value of the interest of any Member or in any accounting between the Members, no value shall be placed on the goodwill or the name of the Company.
- (b) The value of the Company's assets shall be determined in accordance with GAAP and in conformity with the provisions of the Accounting Standards Codification, Topic

- 820, *Fair Value Management*, in such manner as the Manager may deem fair and reasonable. In calculating the value of assets, the Manager may use particular pricing services, brokers, market makers or other intermediaries as the Manager shall determine. The assets and investments of the Company shall be valued by the Manager in accordance with the foregoing and the following guidelines, and all such values are final and conclusive as to all Members:
- (i) If the asset being valued is an interest in another partnership or other entity in which the Company has invested, the value of such interest shall be the value attributed to such interest under the terms of the instruments governing said partnership or entity as reported by its administrators or officers, as of such date as shall be determined to be appropriate by the Manager.
- (ii) Listed Securities, including derivatives, will be valued at their last sales price on the date of determination, or, if no sales occurred on such date, at the mean between the "bid" and "asked" prices at the close of trading on such date on such exchange.
- (iii) Securities not traded on a national securities exchange, but traded over the counter shall be valued at the "bid" prices for long positions and "asked" prices for short positions on the date as of which the value is being determined except that those Securities quoted on the National Market System shall be valued at the last price as reported by NASDAQ, or if such prices are not reported by NASDAQ, as reported by the Pink OTC Markets Inc. or successor entity; provided that the valuation of options not traded on a national securities exchange may be determined from any reliable source selected by the Manager.
- (iv) The value of illiquid or impaired Securities will (in conformity with the provisions of the Accounting Standards Codification, Topic 820, *Fair Value Measurement*) be at a value believed to be the price at which the Security would be sold in an orderly transaction in a principal market.
- (v) Over-the-counter option and swap transactions entered into with a counterparty shall be valued in accordance with the option's or the swap's terms by the counterparty in good faith in a commercially reasonable manner.
- (vi) Short term money market instruments and bank deposits shall be valued at cost plus accrued interest to date.
- (vii) All other Securities and assets of the Company will be assigned a fair value as the Manager may reasonably determine in consultation with such industry professionals and other third parties as the Manager deems appropriate in its discretion. In addition, the Manager reserves the right to adjust the valuations of any Security to reflect discounts for illiquidity, restrictions upon marketability, differences between the market value and the basis of the assets for federal income tax purposes or other factors affecting the value of assets or influencing the reality of a sale occurring at quoted prices.
- (viii) If on the date as of which any valuation is being made, the exchange or market herein designated for the valuation of any given assets is not open for business, the valuation of such assets shall be determined as of the last preceding date on which such exchange or market was open for business.

Transfers During Year

. In order to avoid an interim closing of the Company's books, the allocation of Profits and Losses under Article VIII between a Member who Transfers part or all of its Company Interest during the Company's accounting year and his transferee, or to a Member whose percentage interests in Profits and Losses varies during the course of the Company's accounting year, may be determined pursuant to any method chosen by the Manager; *provided, however*, that any Profit or Loss attributable to extraordinary items related to the sale of Company property shall be allocated to the owner of the interest in the Company at the time the Profit or Loss attributable to the extraordinary item was realized.

Reports. The Manager shall cause the Company to deliver to the Members the following financial statements and reports at the times indicated below:

- (a) The Manager provide each Member annual review of the Company's investment or other asset held by the Company and unaudited financial statements for the Company prepared in accordance with GAAP. Such review will also include a discussion by the Manager regarding the activities of the Company and the Operating Company and their respective operating and financial results.
- (b) The Manager shall send to each Person who was a Member in the Company at any time during the fiscal year then ended reviewed annual financial statements for the Company (including a statement of each Member's Capital Account at the end of such fiscal year), and annual tax information necessary for completion of individual tax returns, including Forms K-1.
- (c) The financial reports, tax returns and forms described in Sections 10.5(a) and 10.5(b) are dependent upon information to be provided to the Manager by the third parties. Therefore, notwithstanding the foregoing time periods, the Manager may furnish such reports, tax returns and forms to the Members after the expiration of such time periods, but as soon as reasonably practical, following receipt of all financial and other information necessary or desirable to prepare such documents.

<u>Section 754 Election</u>. The Manager may, in its sole discretion, determine whether the Company shall make the election provided for under Section 754 of the Code. Any such election shall be at the sole cost and expense of the Company.

<u>Inspection of Documents</u>. Each Member shall have the right to inspect, review, make copies of, and audit all agreements, documents, records and reports relating to the business of the Company prepared by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the performance of its duties hereunder, in each case at such Member's expense during reasonable business hours and with at least five Business Days prior written notice to the Manager.

Article XI TRANSFER OF MEMBER'S INTEREST

Restrictions on Transfers and Liens. No Member shall Transfer or create a Lien on all or any portion of its Membership Interest except as permitted by this Article XI. Any attempted Transfer of, or creation of a Lien on, any portion of a Membership Interest not in accordance with the terms of this Article XI shall be null and void and of no legal effect.

Permitted Transfers.

Any Transfers and Liens permitted under this Section 11.2 shall be subject to the other provisions of this Article XI. The following Transfers and Liens shall be permitted.

- (a) To the extent not otherwise permitted by clauses (b), (c) or (d) below, a Member may Transfer all or any portion of its Membership Interest only in the sole and absolute discretion, and with the written approval, of the Manager;
- (b) A Member may Transfer all or any portion of its Membership Interest to any other Member;
- (c) A Member may Transfer all or any portion of its Membership Interest to an Affiliate of such Member without the consent of the Manager or any other Member *provided* that such Affiliate is an Accredited Investor; and
- (d) A Member who is a natural person may Transfer all or a portion of his or her Membership Interest for the benefit of one or more Relatives (<u>e.g.</u>, Transfers to family trusts or family partnerships, limited partnerships, limited liability companies, or limited liability limited partnerships).

Substitution of a Member.

- (a) No transferee (by voluntary or involuntary conveyance, foreclosure, dissolution of marriage, operation of law or otherwise) of all or any portion of a Company Interest shall become a substituted Member without the consent of the Manager, which consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of the Manager. A transferee of a Company Interest who receives the requisite consent to become a Member shall succeed to all of the rights and interest of its transferor in the Company as well as the voting and other rights of a Member if such rights were not held by the transferor. A transferee of a Member who does not receive the requisite consent to become a Member shall not have any right to vote, shall be entitled only to the distributions to which its transferor otherwise would have been entitled and shall have no other right to participate in the management of the business and affairs of the Company or to become a Member.
- (b) If a Member shall be dissolved, merged or consolidated, its successor in interest shall have the same obligations and rights to profits or other compensation that such Member would have had if it had not been dissolved, merged or consolidated, except that the representative or successor shall not become a substituted Member without the consent of the Manager, which consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of the Manager. Such a successor in interest who receives the requisite consent to become a Member shall succeed to all of the rights and interests of its predecessor as well as the voting and other rights of a Member if such rights were not held by the predecessor. A successor in interest who does not receive the requisite consent to become a Member shall not have any right to vote, shall be entitled only to the distributions to which its predecessor otherwise would have been entitled and shall have no right to participate in the management of the business and affairs of the Company or to become a Member.
- (c) No Transfer of any Company Interest otherwise permitted under this Agreement shall be effective for any purpose whatsoever until the transferee shall have assumed

the transferor's obligations to the extent of the Company Interest that is Transferred, and shall have agreed to be bound by all the terms and conditions hereof, by written instrument, duly acknowledged, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Manager. Without limiting the foregoing, any transferee that has not become a substituted Member shall nonetheless be bound by the provisions of this Article XI with respect to any subsequent Transfer. Upon admission of the transferee as a substituted Member, the transferor shall have no further obligations under this Agreement with respect to that portion of its Company Interest that is Transferred to the transferee; *provided*, *however*, no Member or former Member shall be released, either in whole or in part, from any liability of such Member to the Company pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise which has accrued through the date of such Transfer (whether as the result of a voluntary or involuntary Transfer) of all or part of such Member's Company Interest unless the Manager agrees to any such release.

<u>Conditions to Substitution</u>. As conditions to its admission as a Member (a) any assignee, transferee or successor of a Member shall execute and deliver such instruments, in form and substance satisfactory to the Manager, as the Manager shall deem necessary, and (b) such assignee, transferee or successor shall pay all reasonable expenses in connection with its admission as a substituted Member.

Admission as a Member. No Person shall be admitted to the Company as a Member unless either (a) the Membership Interest or part thereof acquired by such Person has been registered under the Securities Act, and any applicable state securities Laws or (b) the Manager has received a favorable opinion of the transferor's legal counsel or of other legal counsel acceptable to the Manager to the effect that the Transfer of the Membership Interest to such Person is exempt from registration under those Laws. The Manager, however, may waive the requirements of this Section 11.5.

Article XII WITHDRAWAL, DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION

<u>Withdrawal</u>. No Member shall have any right to voluntarily resign from the Company. When a transferee of all or any portion of a Membership Interest becomes a substituted Member pursuant to Section 11.3, the transferring Member shall cease to be a Member with respect to the portion of the Membership Interest so Transferred.

<u>**Dissolution**</u>. The Company shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of any of the following:

- (a) The written determination of the Manager;
- (b) The sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
- (c) The sale, acquisition or dissolution and final liquidation of the Operating Company.

<u>Liquidation</u>. Upon dissolution of the Company, the Manager shall appoint in writing one or more liquidators (who may be Members or the Manager) who shall have full authority to wind up the affairs of the Company and to make a final distribution as provided

herein. The liquidator shall continue to operate the Company properties with all of the power and authority of the Manager. The steps to be accomplished by the liquidator are as follows:

- (a) As promptly as possible after dissolution and again after final liquidation, the liquidator shall cause a proper accounting to be made by the Company's independent accountants of the Company's assets, liabilities and operations through the last day of the month in which the dissolution occurs or the final liquidation is completed, as appropriate, including in such accounting the Profit or Loss resulting from the actual or deemed sale or distribution of the Company's properties, as provided in Section 10.2(b).
- (b) The liquidator shall pay all of the debts and liabilities of the Company or otherwise make adequate provision therefor (including, without limitation, the establishment of a cash escrow fund for contingent liabilities in such amount and for such term as the liquidator may reasonably determine). The liquidator shall then, by payment of cash or property (at the election of the liquidator, and, in the case of property, valued as of the date of termination of the Company at its fair market value by an appraiser selected by the liquidator), distribute all remaining amounts to the Members in accordance with their respective Capital Account Balances. For purposes of this Article XII, a distribution of an asset or an undivided interest in an asset in-kind to a Member shall be considered a distribution of an amount equal to the fair market value of such asset or undivided interest. Each Member shall have the right to designate another Person to receive any property that otherwise would be distributed in kind to that Member pursuant to this Section 12.3.
- (c) Any real property distributed to the Members shall be conveyed by special warranty deed and shall be subject to the operating agreements and all Liens, contracts and commitments then in effect with respect to such property, which shall be assumed by the Members receiving such real property.
- (d) Except as expressly provided herein, the liquidator shall comply with any applicable requirements of the Act and all other applicable Laws pertaining to the winding up of the affairs of the Company and the final distribution of its assets. Liquidation of the Company shall be completed within the time limits imposed by Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii) and (g).
- (e) The distribution of cash or property to the Members in accordance with the provisions of this Section 12.3 shall satisfy each Member's rights with respect to the Member's respective Capital Contributions and interests in the profits of the Company, and shall constitute a complete distribution to the Members of their respective interests in the Company and all Company property. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, no Member shall have any obligation to contribute to the Company, pay to any other Member or pay to any other Person any deficit balance in such Member's Capital Account.

<u>Articles of Dissolution</u>. Upon the completion of the distribution of the Company's assets as provided in this Article XII, the Company shall be terminated and the Person acting as liquidator shall file a articles of dissolution and shall take such other actions as may be necessary to terminate the Company.

Article XIII **NOTICES**

Method of Notices. All notices required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered, sent by registered or certified mail or by nationally recognized overnight courier, or by facsimile or other electronic transmission (including electronic mail). Any such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been delivered and received (a) in the case of personal delivery, on the date of such delivery, (b) in the case of registered or certified mail, on the third Business Day following that on which the piece of mail containing such communication is posted, (c) in the case of a nationally recognized overnight courier in circumstances under which such courier guarantees next Business Day delivery, on the next Business Day after the date sent, and (d) in the case of facsimile or electronic transmission (including electronic mail), on the date sent if such date is a Business Day or on the next Business Day if the date sent is not a Business Day. Any such communication shall be sent to the Members at their respective addresses set forth in their Subscription Documents, and to the Company and Manager at the following:

Beechwood Reinvestmer	nt, LLO
[_]
Ī	_1
Attn: Manager	
Email: []
Facsimile: [_]

Any Member or Manager may give notice from time to time changing its respective address for that purpose.

<u>Computation of Time</u>. In computing any period of time under this Agreement, the day of the act, event or default from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. The last day of the period so computed shall be included, unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in which event the period shall run until the end of the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday.

Article XIV GENERAL PROVISIONS

Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by the Manager that has been approved by a Required Interest of Members in accordance with this Agreement unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the above, any amendment that has a material adverse effect on the Capital Account of any Member, imposes on a Member an obligation to make additional Capital Contributions or adversely affects a Member's rights under this Agreement shall not be effective against such Member without the prior written consent of such Member (such consent may not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that the admittance of new Members or the dilution of the Percentage Interests or other rights of Members occasioned by the increase in Membership Interests in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the admittance of such

new Members shall not constitute an adverse effect on a Member for purposes of this Section 14.1.

Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Delaware as applied to agreements among Delaware residents made and to be performed entirely within Delaware. Any action, proceeding or dispute arising hereunder, or concerning the subject matter of this Agreement must be commenced, prosecuted and adjudicated in the state or federal courts located in New York City, New York. Each Member irrevocably consents to personal jurisdiction in New York City, New York, and irrevocably waives any objection such person may have based on personal jurisdiction, improper venue or inconvenient forum.

<u>Waiver</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein, rights hereunder may not be waived except by an instrument in writing signed by the party sought to be charged with the waiver.

Power of Attorney.

- (a) Each Member, by becoming a party to and agreeing to be bound by this Agreement, irrevocably constitutes and appoints, with full power of substitution, the Manager its true and lawful attorney-in-fact with full power and authority, in its name, place and stead to execute, certify, acknowledge, deliver, swear to, file and record at the appropriate public offices such documents as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of this Agreement, including but not limited to:
- (i) all certificates and other instruments (including counterparts of this Agreement and the Certificate of Formation), and any amendments thereto, which the Manager deems necessary to form, qualify or continue the Company as a limited liability company (or another entity in which the Members will have limited liability comparable to that provided by the Act on the Effective Date) in any jurisdiction in which the Company may conduct business,
- (ii) any other instrument or document which may be required to be filed by the Company under the Laws of any state or other jurisdiction or which the Manager deem advisable to file to qualify the Company to do business therein or to comply with applicable Law;
- (iii) any instrument or document, including amendments to this Agreement and the Certificate of Formation, which may be required to effect the continuation of the Company, the admission of any Member, or the dissolution and termination of the Company; *provided* that such continuation, admission or dissolution and termination are in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; and
- (iv) all elections that may be made by the Company or the Members in respect of the Company under the Code.
- (b) The appointment by each Member of the Manager as its attorney-in-fact is irrevocable and shall be deemed to be a power coupled with an interest, in recognition of the fact that each of the Members under this Agreement will be relying upon the power of the Manager

to act as contemplated by this Agreement in any filing and other action by the Manager on behalf of the Company, and shall survive and not be affected by the subsequent bankruptcy, insolvency or dissolution of any Member hereby giving such power and the Transfer or assignment of all or any part of the Membership Interest of such Member; *provided*, *however*, that in the event of the Transfer by a Member of all or any part of its Membership Interest, the foregoing power of attorney of the transferor shall survive such Transfer only until such time, if any, as the transferee shall have been admitted to the Company as a Member and all required documents and instruments shall have been duly executed to effect such substitution. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 14.4, the power of attorney granted pursuant to this Section 14.4 does not empower the Manager to exercise such power to take any action that is not otherwise permitted under this Agreement, or that requires the consent of any Member unless such consent has been given by such Member.

Confidentiality. Each Member will keep confidential and not use, reveal, provide or transfer to any third party any Confidential Information it obtains or has obtained concerning the Company, except (a) to the extent that disclosure to a third party is required by applicable Law; (b) information which, at the time of disclosure, is generally available to the public (other than as a result of a breach of this Agreement or any other confidentiality agreement to which such Person is a party or of which it has actual knowledge), as evidenced by generally available documents or publications; (c) information that was in its possession prior to disclosure (as evidenced by appropriate written materials) and was not acquired directly or indirectly from the Company; (d) to the extent disclosure is necessary or advisable, to its or the Company's employees, consultants or advisors for the purpose of carrying out their duties hereunder; (e) to banks or other financial institutions or agencies or any independent accountants or legal counsel or investment advisors employed by the Manager, the Company or any Member, to the extent disclosure is necessary or advisable to obtain financing; (f) to the extent necessary, disclosure to third parties to enforce this Agreement, or (g) to a Member or Manager or to their respective Affiliates; provided, however, that in each case of disclosure pursuant to (d), (e) or (g), the Persons to whom disclosure is made agree to be bound by this confidentiality provision. The obligation of each Member and Manager not to disclose Confidential Information except as provided herein shall not be affected by the termination of this Agreement or the replacement of the Manager or any Member.

<u>Applicable Law</u>. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the Laws of the State of Delaware, excluding its conflicts of laws rules.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement embodies the entire understanding and agreement among the parties concerning the Company and supersedes any and all prior negotiations, understandings or agreements in regard thereto.

<u>Counterparts</u>. This instrument may be executed and delivered (including by facsimile with written confirmation of receipt (or other electronic transmission)) in any number of counterparts each of which shall be considered an original.

Additional Documents. The Members hereto covenant and agree to execute such additional documents and to perform additional acts as are or may become necessary or convenient to carry out the purposes of this Agreement.

<u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Members, and no other Person is intended to be a beneficiary of this Agreement or shall have any rights hereunder.

Counsel to the Company. Counsel to the Company may also be counsel to the Manager. The Manager may execute on behalf of the Company and the Members any consent to the representation of the Company that counsel may request pursuant to the New York Rules of Professional Conduct or similar rules in any other jurisdiction ("Rules"). The Company has initially selected Bryan Cave LLP ("Company Counsel") as legal counsel to the Company. Each Member acknowledges that Company Counsel does not represent any Member in its capacity as a Member in the absence of a clear and explicit written agreement to such effect between the Member and Company Counsel (and then only to such extent as set forth in the such agreement), and that in the absence of any such agreement Company Counsel shall owe no duties directly to a Member. In the event any dispute or controversy arises between any Member and the Company, or between any Member or the Company, on the one hand, and the Manager or any Affiliate of the Manager that Company Counsel represents, on the other hand, then each Member agrees that Company Counsel may represent such Manager or the Company (and in the case where the dispute is between any Member, on the one hand, and both the Manager and the Company, on the other hand, Company Counsel may represent both the Company and the Manager) in any such dispute or controversy to the extent permitted by the Rules, and each Member hereby consents to such representation. Each Member further acknowledges that, whether or not Company Counsel has in the past represented or is currently representing such Member with respect to other matters, Company Counsel has not represented the interests of any Member in the preparation and negotiation of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 14.8 (Entire Agreement), this Section 14.12 shall be treated as a supplement to, and not a substitution or replacement for, any other waiver, consent or agreement provided to the Company Counsel by any Person.

[Signatures page follows.]

MANAGER:		
 David Levy		
·		
MEMBERS:		

All those Members who have executed a Subscription Agreement and Special Power of Attorney, originals of which are on file with the Company

BC Draft 7/3/2013

BEECHWOOD REINVESTMENT, LLC

SUBSCRIPTION DOCUMENTS

The Membership Interests referred to in the attached Subscription Agreement have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (the "Securities Act") and may not be sold, transferred, assigned or hypothecated without the consent of the Manager and unless there is an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering such securities or the Manager receives an opinion of counsel for the holder reasonably satisfactory to the Manager stating that such sale, transfer, assignment or hypothecation is exempt from the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.

A Subscriber should be prepared to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Company for an indefinite period of time because the Membership Interests have not been registered under the Securities Act or the laws of any other jurisdiction, and, therefore, cannot be sold unless they are subsequently registered or an exemption from registration is available. There is no obligation of the Company to register the Membership Interests under the Securities Act or the laws of any other jurisdiction. Transfer of the Membership Interests is also restricted by the terms of the LLC Agreement relating thereto.

SUBSCRIPTION INSTRUCTIONS

Prospective investors in Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "<u>Company</u>"), must complete and deliver these Subscription Documents as instructed below.

1. Review Company Documents:

You should read carefully the Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company (the "<u>LLC Agreement</u>").

2. Completion of the Documents:

- a. **Subscriber:** The word "Subscriber" is the person for whose account the Membership interests in the Company (the "<u>Membership Interests</u>") are being purchased. Another person with investment authority may execute the Subscription Documents on behalf of Subscriber, but should indicate the capacity in which he or she is doing so and the name of the Subscriber.
- b. Subscription Agreement and Investor Qualification Questionnaire: Complete all requested information in the attached Subscription Agreement and Investor Qualification Questionnaire and date and sign the appropriate signature pages. By executing the Subscription Agreement, the Subscriber adopts the LLC Agreement and authorizes the Manager to execute the LLC Agreement on behalf of Subscriber.
- c. **IRS Form W-9:** Complete and sign IRS Form W-9 to certify your tax identification number attached as <u>Exhibit A</u>.

If you are investing through multiple entities, please make additional copies of these documents as necessary, ensuring that all documents are completed for each entity investing in the Company.

3. Delivering Subscription Documents and Authorization:

One completed and signed copy of the Subscription Agreement and Investor Qualification Questionnaire, together with any required evidence of authorization, should be delivered to [counsel for] the Company via overnight courier as follows:

[_]
Attention:	
Facsimile:	Γ
Email: [1

7. Making Capuai Commonium	4.	Making	Capital	Contributions	s:
----------------------------	----	--------	---------	---------------	----

the fully-executed signature page.

Capital Contributions will be due upon the Manager informing you of his acceptance of your signed Subscription Documents. Your Capital Contribution shall be made by wire transfer as follows:

as ion	JWS.
	Wire Routing Transit Number: []
	Bank Name: []
	City, State: []
	Account Number: []
	Title of Account: []
	Capital Contributions will be held by the Company pending the Company's investment in wood Reinsurance LLC, and shall be promptly returned to you, without interest, if such ment does not close on or before [], 2013.
5.	Additional Required Documents:
•	The Manager reserves the right to request any additional documentation necessary to your identity. Please be aware that your failure to provide such documentation may delay cceptance by the Manager or cause your subscription request to be rejected entirely.
6.	Additional Information:
	Questions about the Subscription Documents and procedures should be directed to David

Levy at [_____]. If your subscription is accepted, the Manager will countersign your Subscription Agreement to confirm your admission to the Company and will send you a copy of

Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT

Dear Sir and Madam:
Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Company") has been formed pursuant to the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act and will be operated in accordance with its Limited Liability Company Agreement (as amended from time to time the "LLC Agreement"). The Company was formed for the purpose of making an equity investment in Beachwood Reinsurance LLC, a limited liability company formed under the laws of the Cayman Islands, British West Indies. The Manager of the Company is David Levy (the "Manager"). Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the LLC Agreement. The initial closing of the offering (the "Initial Closing") is expected to occur on, 2013 for any amount of subscriptions. At each Closing, investors will be required to tender all of their total Capital Contributions subscribed for at such Closing. Following the Initial Closing, the Manager may accept additional subscriptions in accordance with the LLC Agreement.
1. Subscription. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the undersigned (" <u>Subscriber</u> ") hereby tenders a subscription for a Capital Contribution in the amount set forth on the signature page hereto (the " <u>Subscription</u> ") for Membership Interests in the Company (the " <u>Membership Interests</u> "). The Subscription shall be due and payable by wired funds upon the Manager's acceptance of this Subscription Agreement.
2. Acceptance of Agreement; Obligations Under LLC Agreement. It is understood and agreed that this Agreement is made subject to the following terms and conditions:

Manager and the conditions set forth in Section 3 below are satisfied, the Manager will execute as attorney-in-fact for Subscriber and the remainder of the Members, a LLC Agreement

Subscription in the Manager's sole and absolute discretion, and this Subscription Agreement and the Subscription shall be deemed to be accepted by the Manager only when Subscriber has been

The Manager shall have the right to accept or reject Subscriber's

If this Subscription Agreement and the Subscription are accepted by the

admitted into the Company as a Member.

substantially in the form delivered to Subscriber.

Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC

[____]

- (c) Subscriber agrees to be bound by all the terms and provisions of the LLC Agreement and to perform all obligations therein imposed upon a Member with respect to Subscriber's Membership Interests.
- (d) Subscriber understands that Subscriber's Membership Interests will not be evidenced by a certificate subject to Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code.

3. Closing; Conditions to Closing.

- (a) <u>Time and Place of Closing</u>. The closing of the sale and purchase of the Membership Interests and admission as a Member to the Company (the "<u>Closing</u>") shall take place at such place and on such date as shall be selected by the Manager.
- (b) <u>Undersigned's Conditions to Closing</u>. Subscriber's obligations hereunder are subject to the following conditions: (i) the representations and warranties of the Manager contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct at the Closing; (ii) the Manager shall have performed and complied with all agreements and conditions required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it prior to or at the Closing; and (iii) Subscriber has received and had the opportunity to review any changes made to the LLC Agreement following the original delivery of such documents to Subscriber.
- (c) <u>Company's Conditions to Closing</u>. The Company's obligations hereunder are subject to the following: (i) Subscriber's representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct at the Closing; and (ii) all proceedings in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and all documents and instruments incident to such transactions shall be satisfactory in substance and form to the Company and the Company shall have received all such counterpart originals or certified or other copies of such documents as the Company may reasonably request.
- (d) <u>Authorizations</u>. Upon acceptance of this Agreement and the Subscription by the Manager, and the admission of Subscriber to the Company as a Member, Subscriber authorizes the Manager to (i) execute the LLC Agreement on behalf of Subscriber and Subscriber agrees to be bound by and comply with the terms of the LLC Agreement and (ii) enter the undersigned's name on its records as holder of the Membership Interests. The Membership Interests to be created on account of this Agreement shall be registered only in the name of Subscriber.
- **4. Representations and Warranties by the Manager.** The Company represents, warrants and agrees as follows:
- (a) <u>Organization and Standing of the Company</u>. The Company is duly and validly organized and validly existing as a limited liability company under the laws of Delaware, and has all requisite power and authority under the LLC Agreement and such laws to conduct its business as described in the LLC Agreement.
- (b) <u>Compliance with Other Instruments</u>. The Company is not in violation of any term of the LLC Agreement nor is it in material violation of any term or any other mortgage,

indenture, contract, agreement, instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule or regulation which is applicable or to which it is bound.

- (c) <u>Governmental and Regulatory Approval</u>. Neither the execution and delivery of the Subscription Agreements or the LLC Agreement, nor the offer, issuance or sale of the Membership Interests, requires any consent, approval or authorization from, or filing, registration or qualification with, any federal, state or local governmental or regulatory authority in the United States (including, without limitation, registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "<u>Securities Act</u>")) on the part of the Company, except for compliance by the Company with Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act ("<u>Regulation D</u>"), and the requirements of any application state securities laws, all of which filings required to be made prior to the Closing have been or will have been made.
- **5. Representations and Warranties.** In consideration of the sale of the Membership Interests, Subscriber hereby represents and warrants to the Company that:
 - (a) Subscriber is an Accredited Investor as defined in Regulation D.
- (b) The Membership Interests subscribed for are being acquired by Subscriber for investment purposes only, for Subscriber's own account and not with the view to any resale or distribution thereof, and Subscriber is not participating, directly or indirectly, in an underwriting of such Membership Interests, and will not take, or cause to be taken, any action that would cause Subscriber to be deemed an "underwriter" of such Membership Interests as defined in Section 2(11) of the Securities Act.
- (c) Subscriber acknowledges that Subscriber has been offered an opportunity to ask questions of, and receive answers from, the Manager concurrently with this offering, concerning the Company and its proposed investments, and that the Manager has fully complied with any request for such information.
- (d) Subscriber has been furnished any documents that may have been made available upon request, has carefully read such documents, understands and has evaluated the risks of a purchase of the Membership Interests.
- (e) Subscriber has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Membership Interests, is able to bear such risks, and has obtained, in Subscriber's judgment, sufficient information from the Manager to evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in the Membership Interests. Subscriber has determined that the Membership Interests are a suitable investment for Subscriber.
- (f) Subscriber has reviewed Subscriber's financial condition and commitments, alone and together with Subscriber's advisers (if any). Based on such review, Subscriber is satisfied Subscriber has adequate means of providing for his, her or its financial needs and possible contingencies, and those of Subscriber's dependents, and that Subscriber does not have any need for liquidity of the funds being utilized in the purchase of the Membership Interests. Subscriber has assets or sources of income which, taken together, are more than

sufficient so that Subscriber could bear the risk of loss of his, her or its entire investment in the Company.

- (g) Any information Subscriber has furnished to the Manager with respect to Subscriber's financial position and business experience, including the Investor Qualification Questionnaire delivered to the Manager, is correct and complete as of the date of this Subscription Agreement and if there should be any material change in such information prior to Subscriber's admission to the Company as a Member, Subscriber will immediately furnish such revised or corrected information in writing to the Company (through its Manager).
- (h) If Subscriber is signing this Subscription Agreement on behalf of an entity, Subscriber is authorized and otherwise duly qualified to make an investment decision for such entity to invest in the Membership Interests.
- (i) Subscriber hereby reconfirms as representations and warranties, as though fully set forth herein, each of Subscriber's statements and answers set forth in the Investor Qualification Questionnaire Subscriber delivered to the Manager.
- (j) The execution, delivery and performance by Subscriber of this Subscription Agreement are within Subscriber's powers and will not constitute or result in a breach or default under or conflict with any order, ruling or regulation of any court or other tribunal or of any governmental commission or agency, or any agreement or other undertaking, to which Subscriber is a party or by which Subscriber is bound, and, if Subscriber is not an individual, will not violate any provisions of the incorporation papers, bylaws, indenture of trust or partnership agreement, as may be applicable, of Subscriber. Subscriber's signature on this Subscription Agreement is genuine, and the signatory, if Subscriber is an individual, has legal competence and capacity to execute the same, and this Subscription Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Subscriber, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
- (k) In making Subscriber's decision to invest in the Membership Interests, Subscriber has relied solely upon independent investigations made by Subscriber. Subscriber is not relying on the Company or the Manager with respect to tax and other economic considerations involved in acquiring the Membership Interests.
- (l) Subscriber understands that the Company will not register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, by reason of the provisions of Section 3(c)(1) and Section 3(c)(7) thereof.
- (m) No representations or warranties have been made to Subscriber by the Company or the Manager, or any officer, employee, agent or affiliate of any of them.
- (n) Subscriber acknowledges and agrees that the written disclosures made in the LLC Agreement and these Subscription Documents shall be controlling over any oral statements.
- **6. Restrictions on Transferability.** Subscriber realizes that the Company has not and does not intend to file periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended. Subscriber also understands that the Company has not agreed to register the Membership Interests for distribution in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act or any applicable state securities laws, and that the Company has not agreed to comply with any exemption under the Securities Act or any such laws for the resale of the Membership Interests. Hence, Subscriber understands that by virtue of the provisions of certain rules relating to "restricted securities" promulgated under the Securities Act, the Membership Interests which Subscriber has subscribed for hereby must be held indefinitely, unless and until subsequently registered under the Securities Act and/or applicable state securities laws or unless an exemption from registration is available, in which case Subscriber may still be limited with respect to the extent to which such Membership Interests may be transferred. As a consequence, Subscriber understands that Subscriber must bear the economic risks of the investment in the Membership Interests for an indefinite period of time.

- **7. Subscriber Awareness.** Subscriber acknowledges, represents, agrees and is aware that:
- (a) No federal or state agency has passed upon the Membership Interests or made any findings or determination as to the fairness of this investment.
- (b) The representations, warranties, agreements and acknowledgments Subscriber makes herein are made with the intent that they be relied upon by the Company and the Manager in determining Subscriber's suitability as an investor, and shall survive Subscriber's admission as a Member of the Company. In addition, Subscriber undertakes to notify the Company immediately of any change in any representation, warranty or other information set forth herein relating to Subscriber.
- (c) No representation or warranties have been made to Subscriber by the Company, the Manager, or any managing director, officer, employee, agent or affiliate of any of them.
- 8. **Indemnities.** Subscriber agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and the Manager, and each other person, if any, who controls or is controlled by any of them, within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act, against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever (including, but not limited to, any and all expenses whatsoever reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation commenced or threatened or any claim whatsoever) arising out of or based upon any false representation or warranty or breach or failure by Subscriber to comply with any covenant or agreement made by Subscriber, in this Subscription Agreement or in any other document furnished by Subscriber to any of the foregoing in connection with this transaction. Subscriber hereby acknowledges that where any subscription agreement, transfer request or other document ("Document") is sent to the Manager by way of facsimile the fact that a transmission report produced by the originator of such transmission discloses that the transmission was sent will not be sufficient proof of receipt by the Manager. The Manager will not be liable for any loss arising as a result of acting or failing to act on the basis of any Document sent by facsimile. Subscriber agrees to indemnify the Manager from and against any and all actions, losses, costs, charges, expenses and demands of any kind which may at any time hereafter be incurred by the Manager in consequence of accepting and acting upon or failing to act upon any Document sent by facsimile.

9. Power of Attorney.

- (a) By executing this Subscription Agreement, Subscriber is hereby granting a special power of attorney, making, constituting and appointing the Manager as Subscriber's attorney-in-fact, with power and authority to act in Subscriber's name and on Subscriber's behalf to execute, acknowledge and swear to the execution, acknowledgment and filing of the following documents:
- (i) the LLC Agreement, substantially in the form provided to Subscriber, with such changes as are not materially adverse to Subscriber;
- (ii) any other instrument or document which may be required to be filed by the Company under the laws of any state or by any governmental agency, or which the Manager deems advisable to file; and
- (iii) any instrument or document which may be required to effect the continuation of the Company, the admission of an additional or substituted Member, or the dissolution and termination of the Company (provided such continuation, admission or dissolution and termination are in accordance with the terms of the LLC Agreement), or to reflect any reductions in amount of contributions of Members.
 - (b) The special power of attorney being granted hereby by each Member:
- (i) is a special power of attorney coupled with an interest, is irrevocable, and shall survive the death or legal incapacity of Subscriber;
- (ii) may be exercised by the Manager signing individually for each Member or for all of the Members executing any particular instrument; and
- (iii) shall survive an assignment by Subscriber of its Membership Interests in the Company except that, where the assignee of the Membership Interests owned by a Member has been approved by the Manager for admission to the Company as a substituted Member, the special power of attorney shall survive such assignment for the sole purpose of enabling the Manager to execute, acknowledge and file any instrument or document necessary to effect such substitution.
- (c) In the event of any conflict between the LLC Agreement and any document filed pursuant to this power of attorney, the LLC Agreement shall control.

The exercise of this power of attorney shall be subject to the Manager's responsibility to obtain the approval of the Members on such matters as required by the LLC Agreement or by applicable law.

10. Survival of Agreements, Representations and Warranties. All agreements, representations and warranties contained herein or made in writing by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, any investigation at any time made by Subscriber or

on Subscriber's behalf, and the sale and purchase of the Membership Interests in the Company and payment therefor.

- 11. **Revocability.** Subscriber understands and agrees that Subscriber may not cancel, terminate, or revoke this Subscription Agreement.
- 12. Notice. Any notices or other communications in connection herewith shall be sufficiently given if sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, and (a) if to the Company, at the address at the head of this Subscription Agreement, and (b) if to Subscriber, at the address set forth below, or (c) at such other address as either Subscriber or the Company shall designate to the other by notice in writing.
- 13. Successors and Assigns. This Subscription Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and to the successors and assigns of the Company and to the personal and legal representatives, heirs, guardians, successors, and permitted assignees of Subscriber.
- **14. Modification.** Neither this Subscription Agreement nor any provision hereof shall be modified, discharged or terminated except by an instrument in writing signed by the party against whom any waiver, change, discharge or termination is sought.
- 15. Entire Agreement. This Subscription Agreement, the Investor Qualification Questionnaire and other agreements or documents referred to herein or in the LLC Agreement contain the entire agreement of the parties. There are no representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements except as stated or referred to herein and in such other agreements or documents.
- 16. Beneficial Ownership. If Subscriber is acting as trustee, agent, representative or nominee for a subscriber ("Beneficial Owner"), Subscriber understands and acknowledges that the representations, warranties and agreements made herein are made by Subscriber (a) with respect to Subscriber, and (b) with respect to the Beneficial Owner of Subscriber subscribed for hereby. Subscriber further represents and warrants that he or she has all requisite power and authority from said Beneficial Owner to execute and perform the obligations under this Subscription Agreement. Subscriber also agrees to indemnify the Company, the Manager, and each of their officers and agents for any and all costs, fees and expenses (including legal fees and disbursements) in connection with any damages resulting from Subscriber or the Beneficial Owner's misrepresentation or misstatement contained herein, or the assertion of Subscriber's lack of proper authorization from the Beneficial Owner of Subscriber subscribed for hereby to enter into this Subscription Agreement or perform the obligations hereof.
- **17. Assignability.** This Subscription Agreement is not transferable or assignable by Subscriber.
- 18. No Waiver. Failure of the Company to exercise any right or remedy under this Subscription Agreement or any other agreement between the Company and Subscriber, or otherwise, or delay by the Company in exercising such right or remedy, will not operate as a waiver thereof.

- 19. Applicable Law. This Subscription Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Delaware and, to the extent it involves any United States statute, in accordance with the laws of the United States.
- **20. Primary Place Residence or Domicile.** Subscriber has received and accepted the offer to purchase the Membership Interests in the state of Subscriber's residence or domicile as set forth below its signature to this Agreement. Such address is the address where Subscriber is a resident and a domiciliary and not a temporary or transient resident.
- **21. Withholding.** The Company is required to withhold a certain portion of the taxable income and gain, if any, allocated or distributed to Subscriber unless Subscriber provides documentation confirming that such undersigned is not subject to withholding, or is subject to a reduced rate of withholding. Each undersigned is urged to consult with a tax advisor concerning the application of the United States withholding rules to such undersigned.

[Signature page follows.]

For Investors that are Individuals:	
Very truly yours,	Capital Contribution:
[Print Investor Name]	\$
By:	
Primary State of Residence:	
Date:	
SUBSCRIPTION ACCEPTED:	
Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC a Delaware limited liability company	
By: Manager	
Data	

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT AND SPECIAL POWER OF ATTORNEY]

For Investors that are Entities:	
Very truly yours,	Capital Contribution:
[Print Investor Name]	\$
By:	
Title:	-
State of Organization:	
Primary State of Operations:	-
Date:	
SUBSCRIPTION ACCEPTED: Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC	
a Delaware limited liability company	
By: Manager	_
Date:	_

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT AND SPECIAL POWER OF ATTORNEY]

Beechwood Reinvestment, LLC Investors Qualification Questionnaire

Information furnished in this questionnaire will be kept strictly confidential, except that the Manager may present the information to such regulatory bodies or other parties as may be appropriate to establish the availability of exemptions from certain securities law registration requirements or the compliance of the Company and this offering with applicable securities laws.

Α.	General Information	
1.	Full Name of Subscriber:	
2.	Address for Notices:	
3.	Telephone Number:	
4.	Facsimile Number:	
5.	Address of Main Office: (if different from above)	
6.	Address of Registered Office: (if different from above)	
7.	Social Security No./IRS Taxpayer ID	:
8.	Date of Birth:	
9.	E-mail Address:	
В.	Subscriber Contact Information	
Prima	ry Contact:	
10.	Name:	
11.	Address:	
	(if different from above)	
12.	Telephone Number:	
13.	Facsimile Number:	
14.	E-mail:	

Custo	dian (if any):				
15.	Name:				
16.	Address: (if different from above)				
17.	Telephone Number.				
18.	Facsimile Number:				
19.	E-mail:				
C.	Investment Experience				
Appro	eximate number of years Subscriber (or	Custodian) l	nas been investir	ng:	years
(or Marke	ase check frequency of Subscriber's Custodian's) investments in: etable securities (stocks, bonds, tures, options)	<u>Often</u> □	Occasionally	Seldom □	<u>Never</u>
Specu	lative or venture capital investments				
Other	private investment funds				
Отне	R EXPERIENCE OF SUBSCRIBER				
Other positions/background related to financial, business, accounting, economics,					
taxation or investment matters that demonstrate investment sophistication					

D. Accredited Investor Status

Subscriber represents and warrants that Subscriber is an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and has checked the box or boxes below which are next to the category or categories under which Subscriber qualifies as an accredited investor:

□ (a)	A bank as defined in Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act or any savings and loan association or other institution as defined in Section 3(a)(5)(A) of the Securities Act, whether acting in its individual or fiduciary capacity.
□ (b)	An insurance company as defined in Section 2(13) of the Securities Act.
□ (c)	A broker-dealer registered pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
□ (d)	An investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "Investment Company Act").
□ (e)	A business development company as defined in Section 2(a)(48) of the Investment Company Act.
□ (f)	A small business investment company licensed by the Small Business Administration under Section 301(e) or (d) of the Small Business Investment Act of 1958.
□ (g)	A private business development company as defined in Section 202(a)(22) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the "Advisers Act").
□ (h)	A corporation, Massachusetts or similar business trust, or partnership, not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring Interests, with total assets in excess of \$5 million.
□ (i)	A trust with total assets in excess of \$5 million not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring Interests, whose purchase is directed by a sophisticated person with such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as described in Rule 506(b)(2)(ii) of Regulation D under the Securities Act as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Membership Interests.
□ (j)	An individual with annual income in excess of \$200,000 U.S. dollars or joint income with a spouse in excess of \$300,000 in each of the two most recent years, and a reasonable expectation of reaching the same income level in the current year.
□ (k)	An individual with net worth, or joint net worth with his or her spouse, in excess of \$1,000,000 (excluding the value of the individual's primary residence).

□ (l)		An entity in which all of the equity owners are accredited investors as determined under any of the paragraphs (a) through (k) above. <u>If this box is checked, please provide the following information</u> :
		Identify Which of Name of Paragraphs (a) - (k) Each Equity Owner Above Apply ————
		(Attach additional sheet(s) if necessary.)
□ (m))	A trust for estate planning purposes that is revocable by its grantor(s) and each grantor is an accredited investor under either paragraphs (j) or (k) above (\$300,000 joint or \$200,000 individual income on \$1,000,000 net worth).
E.	Supple	emental Data for Entities
20.	If Subs	scriber is an entity, furnish the following supplemental data:
		Legal form of entity (check one):
		☐ Partnership
		☐ Corporation
		☐ Limited Liability Company
		☐ Trust
		☐ Other (Specify):
		Jurisdiction of organization:
		Date of formation:
		Number of Shareholders, Partners or Members (if applicable):
		Paragraph number(s) in the governing instrument(s) or governing law that authorize(s) Subscriber to make an investment in the Company:
		Authorized signatories for the investment account (lease provide specimen signatures for each):

21.	Was S	ubscrib	er orgai	nized for the sp	ecific p	urpose of acquiring Membership Interests?
				Yes		No
22.	able to Subscr of equi	decide iber's i ity or b	e individ investme eneficia	lually whether the complete in the Complete in the Complete in State in Sta	to partic pany (i.e ubscribe	of equity or beneficial interests in Subscriber cipate, or the extent of their participation, in e., can shareholders, partners or other holders or determine whether their capital will form the Company)?
				Yes		No
23.	describ Plans);	yee ben bed in S or (iii)	nefit plan Section 4) an enti	n within the me 4975 of the Coo ty which is dee	eaning o de (inclu emed to	criber is, or is acting on behalf of: (i) an of Section 3(3) of ERISA; (ii) a "plan" ading Individual Retirement Plans and Keogh hold the plan assets of any of the foregoing "benefit plan investor").
				Yes		No
	(b)	Is Sub	scriber	subject to Title	I of ER	MISA?
				Yes		No
24.	investr Compa person by, or	nent ad any? Fo , direct under c han an	lvice for purportion or purportion or incommon the contraction of the	a fee (direct or oses of this que directly, through control with the	r indired stion (i) h one on he perso	retionary authority or control, or provide ct), with respect to the assets of the an "affiliate" of a person includes any remore intermediaries, controlling, controlled on and (ii) "control," with respect to a person to influence the management or policies of
				Yes		No
25.				Subscriber's subtal assets of Su	_	on for Membership Interests in the Company ?
				Yes		No
26.	definit	ion of '		nent company"		any" but for reliance on an exclusion from the ion $3(c)(1)$ or Section $3(c)(7)$ under the
				Yes		No

27.	(a) incom	is Sub ie tax pu			a partn	ersnip or an S-C	orpora	ition for U.S. feder	aı
				Yes		No			
	(b)	If the	questio	n above was an	swered	"Yes," please i	ndicate	whether or not:	
			the Co	cial owner in S	Subscrib	er is (or may at	any tin	ip interest of any ne during the term et or indirect) interes	
						Yes		No	
				any to permit t	he Com		the 100	ticipation in the partner limitation 704-1(h)(3).	
						Yes		No	
28.	On wh	nat dates	s does S	Subscriber's tax	k year er	nd?			_

F. U.S. Person Status

Subscriber certifies that it is a "<u>U.S. Person</u>" as defined in Regulation S adopted under the 1933 Act. Subscriber is such a "U.S. Person" under Regulation S if it is (1) a partnership or corporation organized or incorporated under the laws of the U.S.; (2) an estate of which any executor or administrator is a U.S. Person; (3) a trust of which any trustee is a U.S. Person; (4) an agency or branch of a non-U.S. entity located in the U.S.; (5) a partnership or corporation organized under the laws of any non-U.S. jurisdiction but formed by a U.S. Person principally for the purpose of investing in securities not registered under the 1933 Act (unless organized and incorporated, and owned, by accredited investors as defined in Rule 501 under the 1933 Act who are not natural persons, estates or trusts); (6) a non-discretionary or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other fiduciary for a U.S. Person; or (7) a discretionary or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other fiduciary organized, incorporated or (if an individual) resident in the U.S. For this purpose, "<u>U.S.</u>" includes U.S. territories and possessions, and "U.S. Person" includes a natural person resident in the U.S., including a resident alien.

G. Persons Authorized to Act for Subscriber

In addition to the persons authorized by the power of attorney contained in Section 9 of the Subscription Agreement, Subscriber certifies that the persons named below are authorized to act individually on behalf of this account unless otherwise noted. Please provide name, specimen signatures and titles in the form that such person would sign documents on behalf of this account, and telephone numbers. Please state any circumstances under which more than one signature is required to take action with respect to this account. Such persons are the only persons so authorized until further written notice to the Company signed by one or more of such

persons	together	with	(in	the	case	of	entities)	appropriate	documentation	establishing	the
authority	of the pe	erson s	eeki	ng to	o actio	on c	on behalf	of Subscriber	·.		

Signatory #1:	Signatory #2:				
Signature	Signature				
Name (and title, if applicable)	Name (and title, if applicable)				
Telephone number	Telephone number				
Signatory #1:	Signatory #2:				
Signature	Signature				
Name (and title, if applicable)	Name (and title, if applicable)				
Telephone number	Telephone number				

[Signature Page Follows.]

	(Print or Type Name of Subscriber)
Ву:	(Signature)
Name	e:(Print or Type Name of Signatory)
Title:	(Print or Type Title of Signatory)
Dated	ŀ

SIGNATURE PAGE TO INVESTOR QUALIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRE

EXHIBIT A

FORM W-9 (WITH INSTRUCTIONS)

EXHIBIT C

EXHIBIT 49

C&3354:18-6ve1/0903636575 RD 0000 mentalt-85-Bile 61/40/01/09/19 a (Rea () & 60 of f 22 1

To: Saurabh Shah[SShah@platinumlp.com]; 'Momborquette, David'[David.Momborquette@srz.com]

From: David Ottensoser

Sent: Tue 3/3/2015 10:29:35 PM

Subject: FW: U1247575 Platinum Partners Liquid Opportunity Master Fund

From: David Ottensoser

Sent: Tuesday, March 03, 2015 5:28 PM

To: 'Randy Katzenstein' Cc: Alice Rooney

Subject: RE: U1247575 Platinum Partners Liquid Opportunity Master Fund

Randy -

We wanted to reply to the February 17, 2015 inquiry that you forwarded to us from Interactive Brokers regarding a December 15, 2014 trade in certain high yield bonds issued by Black Elk. Based on our review of the circumstances underlying the trade, our understanding is that the sale was made from an account belonging to the wife of David Steinberg, an employee of Platinum Partners. We understand that Mr. Steinberg had trading authority over that account. Mr. Steinberg bought Black Elk high yield bonds for Platinum Partners Liquid Opportunity Master Fund LP on December 15, 2014. Mr. Steinberg had trading authority over the fund account. Platinum Partners was in the market at various times during that month to purchase Black Elk high yield bonds.

We understand how this trade could raise questions and therefore are in the process of reviewing and revising our internal policies and procedures.

We also appreciate your getting an extension of the reply deadline on our behalf from Interactive Brokers.

David Ottensoser Chief Compliance Officer

From: Randy Katzenstein [mailto:randy@obexgroup.com]

Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 5:33 PM

To: David Ottensoser Cc: Alice Rooney

Subject: FW: U1247575 Platinum Partners Liquid Opportunity Master Fund

Hi David:

OBEX has been asked by our clearing firm, Interactive Brokers, to send PPLO the attached message regarding some trading PPLO did in December and obtain a written response to the inquiry. I spoke with Mark Misch, the compliance analyst who explained why this is on their radar. It appears that when PPLO bought 10 Black Elk bonds, I believe by David Steinberg, Interactive Brokers tracked the other side of the trade originating from the same IP address. Please note, PPLO has an account at IB which was introduced by OBEX Securities. The buy was entered directly to Interactive by PPLO. The transaction in question did not get handled by OBEX. The other account, Rachel Steinberg who sold the bonds, was not opened by OBEX and is not under OBEX's purview.

As stated in the attachment, Interactive is looking for the details of the trades to review the circumstance.

Please offer an explanation for Interactive Brokers and forward to my attention.

Best regards,

Randy Katzenstein President & CEO OBEX Group LLC

Tel: 914-833-1800 Fax: 914-833-8903 randy@obexgroup.com



From: Ellen Winston-Repp [mailto:ewinston@interactivebrokers.com]

Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 12:04 PM

To: Alice M. Rooney Cc: Randy Katzenstein

Subject: U1247575 Platinum Partners Liquid Opportunity Master Fund

Hi Alice,

IB's Compliance dept has asked me to contact OBEX Securities regarding one of its clients, U1247575 Platinum Partners Liquid Opportunity Master Fund account, which has recently appeared on one of IB's surveillance reports.

I am sending you this email because a written notice needs to be sent your client which I have attached.

Regards, Ellen